
 

 
COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL AGENDA 

 

Date: 
 

Monday, 15 November 2021 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 

 

Hybrid meeting. Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, 

ST13 6HQ and via 'Teams 
29 October 2021 

 
PART 1 

1. Apologies.  

2. Notification of Substitute Members, if any.  

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)  

4. Declaration of Interests:  

 
 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

 Other Interests 

5. SMDC Draft Climate Change Part 2 Plan (Pages 3 - 108) 

6. Scrutiny Review - Discussion Item (Pages 109 - 132) 

7. Questions to Portfolio Holders, if any.  

 (At least two clear days notice required, in writing, to the Proper Officer in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 15). 
 

8. Work Programme (Pages 133 - 134) 

 Any additional items to be added to the Work Programme: 
 Chair’s Items 

 Members’ Items 

 

9. To Approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting. (Pages 135 - 140) 

10. Report of the Chairman of the Police and Crime Panel. (Pages 141 - 144) 

11. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  

 The Chair to move:- 

 
“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 

scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack



public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the 

public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in 
Section 10 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the 

public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.” 
 

12. Exempt Urgent Items of Business.  

 (Paragraph 2, 7 - Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an 
individual.  

Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. ) 

 
 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

 
 

Membership of Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel 

Councillor D Shaw (Chair) Councillor T McNicol (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor J Aberley Councillor G Bentley 

Councillor G Heath Councillor I Herdman 
Councillor T Holmes Councillor K Hoptroff 
Councillor B A Hughes Councillor A Hulme 

Councillor B Johnson Councillor J T Jones 
Councillor K Martin Councillor T Riley 

Councillor P Roberts Councillor L Swindlehurst 
Councillor P Taylor Councillor R Ward 
Councillor N Yates  

 



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
 

8 November 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

SMDC Draft Climate Change Part 2 Plan 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Joe Porter - Portfolio Holder for 
Climate Change and Biodiversity 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

David Smith - Head of Communities and 
Climate Change 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
(All Wards); 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Working Group Recommendations; 

Appendix B: SCATTER Emissions Baselining; Appendix C: Climate Attitude 
Survey Results; Appendix D: Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 2030;  

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The report presents the Council’s approach to tackling the climate change 
emergency. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel recommend that the Cabinet 

approve the Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 2030. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council recognises the global climate 

emergency and is committed to keeping global heating below the 
1.5°Celsius goal of the Paris Agreement. 

 

3.2 The District Council cannot solve the problem on its own, but can take a 
lead role in the district and use its powers and influence to support wider 

local action to reduce emissions and prepare for a changing climate. 
 

3.3 The national Climate Change Committee estimate that local authorities1 

have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local 
areas and are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of local 

                                                 
1 This refers to Staffordshire County Council and the Peak District National Park Authority as well as 

the District Council. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



  

emissions. The Committee recognised that more than half of the cut in 
emissions required to meet national reduction targets rely on people and 
businesses taking up low-carbon solutions. 

 
3.4 When developing its plan for reducing district-wide emissions, the 

Council drew upon three main sources of information: Information 
gathered by Working Groups, Data Analysis and a Climate Change 
Attitude Survey. 

 
3.5 The plan, which can be found at Appendix D, is intended to provide a 

clear vision and strategy for achieving net zero emissions from the district 
by 2030.  

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 This is a key action towards delivering Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan. It also 
supports the Council’s action in delivering a Climate Change Emergency. 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 None identified. 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
The Council is recruiting a Climate Change and Biodiversity Officer 

to play a lead role in delivering the Climate Change Strategy. 
However, all Services will be involved in delivering Pt 1 and 2 of 

our climate change plans. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 
The plan includes a commitment to give priority in responding to 

climate change to the needs of vulnerable groups who are most at 
risk to the adverse effects of climate change, including food and 
fuel poverty, and lack of access to green space. 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 
The Council carries an earmarked reserve set aside for initiatives 

responding to the Climate Emergency. This reserve is available to 

provide the funding for unbudgeted in-year spend developing 

projects designed to further the Council’s ambitions around climate 

change. Once specific projects have been developed (and their 

Page 4



  

business case signed off); the necessary budget requirements can 

be incorporated into the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

6.5 Legal 
 

None – the Council does not have a specific statutory duty to tackle 
climate change 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 

The strategy is central to the Council’s response to tackling climate 
change in the district. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

The Council developed a Climate Change Sub-Committee and 
Working groups to inform the development of the plan. In addition, 
the Council commissioned a Climate Change Attitude survey that 

was carried out in September 2021.  
 

The Council has commissioned Anthesis to carry out a series of 
workshops over the coming groups to continue the consultation 
and is developing a Communications and Engagement Strategy. 

 
6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The Council has set a various challenging target of achieving Net 
Zero by 2030. Local authorities (which includes the District Council, 

County Council and Peak District National park authority) have 
powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local 
areas and are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of 

local emissions. The Council recognises that it will require all 
stakeholders to work together the achieve the 2030 target. 

 
Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Part 1 Action Plan available at 
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/ClimateChange ” 

David Smith 
Head of Communities and Climate Change 

David.smith@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Page 5



  

7. Detail 

 
Introduction 

 
7.1 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council recognises the global climate 

emergency and is committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius 
goal of the Paris Agreement. 

 

7.2 The District Council cannot solve the problem on its own, but can take a lead 
role in the district and use its powers and influence to support wider local 

action to reduce emissions and prepare for a changing climate. 
 
7.3 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council declared a climate emergency on 10th 

July 2019 and agreed to work with partners across the district and beyond to 
make Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030. The Council 

recognises that it will be difficult to achieve such an ambitious target but 
believes that the target needs to be challenging to encourage the action that is 
needed to tackle the climate change emergency. 

 
7.4 The Council subsequently approved a new corporate plan (2019-23) on 8 

October 2019 that included an aim to: “Protect and improve the environment 
and respond to the climate emergency”. The Council’s corporate plan has 
previously included aims around improving the environment, but this is the first 

time that climate change has been specifically named as a key aim 
demonstrating the Council’s commitment to putting climate change at the heart 
of its activities. 

 
7.5 The Council divided its action planning process into two phases. The first 

phase focussed on reducing the emissions generated by the Council whilst 
delivering its functions. The Council approved an action plan describing for 
reducing these emissions on 29 June 2021. 

 
7.6 This report presents the second part of its Climate Change Plan, which looks 

beyond those emissions directly related to District Council activities and 
provides a plan for reducing emissions across the district. 

 

Reducing District Emissions 
 

7.7 The national Climate Change Committee estimate that local authorities2 have 
powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local areas and 
are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of local emissions. The 

Committee recognised that more than half of the cut in emissions required to 
meet national reduction targets rely on people and businesses taking up low-

carbon solutions. The Committee also helpfully set out the different methods 
that local authorities can use to control and influence emissions and tackle 
climate change: 

 

                                                 
2 This refers to Staffordshire County Council and the Peak District National Park Authority as well as 

the District Council. 

Page 6



  

• Direct Control: the Council’s own buildings, operations, travel 

 Procurement and commissioning & commercialisation 

 Place shaping: using powers to control development and transport 

(transport is a County Council function along with things like highways 
and education) 

 Showcasing: innovating, piloting, demonstrating and sharing good 

practice, scaling and replicating 

 Partnerships: leading, bringing people and organisations together, co-

ordinating and supporting others, joining others’ partnerships 
 Involving, Engaging and Communicating: translating global & national 

climate change targets for local relevance; with stakeholders to raise 
awareness, involving people and ideas for local solutions. 

 
7.8 When developing its plan for reducing district-wide emissions, the Council 

drew upon three main sources of information: Information gathered by 
Working Groups, Data Analysis and a Climate Change Attitude Survey.  

 
7.9 Council Working Groups. The declaration of a climate emergency included 

an undertaking to: 
 

“Request that the Chair of the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

establishes a sub committee to undertake detailed research into the effects of 

climate change in the District, to include consideration of all relevant data and 
monitoring information available, and to involve evidence from relevant 
stakeholders, with a view to recommending to the Council an effective, 

achievable and costed plan of actions to address climate change within the 
Staffordshire Moorlands”. 

 
7.10 The Council went beyond this undertaking and also established working 

groups to look at district greenhouse gas emissions from Council activity, 

travel and transport, housing, industry, agriculture, land use and biodiversity, 
waste, and energy production. These working groups gathered evidence from 

many outside agencies and experts to identify actions that could reduce 
emissions. 

 

7.11 The working groups were asked to conclude their work and submit their 
recommendations via the Council’s Democratic Services team by 15th October 

2021. A copy of the submissions received can be found at Appendix A. 
 
7.12 Data analysis. Anthesis UK Ltd were asked to prepare a Scatter emissions 

baseline for the district. A copy of this report is available at Appendix B. 
 

7.13 The report reveals that in 2018, Staffordshire Moorlands’ in-boundary 
emissions totalled905 ktCO2e. The majority resulted from buildings (61%), on-
road transport (19%) and livestock (22%). 

 
7.14 The report also identifies that an annual reduction rate of 12.4% is needed to 

keep Staffordshire Moorlands aligned with Paris Agreement targets. However, 
according to BEIS statistics, the average annual emissions reduction rate in 
Staffordshire Moorlands between 2005 and 2019 was just over 2%. This 

Page 7



  

means that if the district continues along a business-as-usual scenario, the 
carbon budget (2020 –2100) will be exceeded by 2027. 

 
7.15 Climate Change Attitude Survey. The Council commissioned Future Focus 

Research to carry out 500 telephone interviews with the general public 

between 6 and 26 September 2021. A copy of the results can be found at 
Appendix C. In summary the survey revealed that: 

 

 86% of residents are either very or a little concerned about the impact of 
climate change of the district, while 13% are not concerned at all. 

 Of most concern are: 
- loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity (93%) 
- extreme weather (91%) 

- environment destruction (90% very or a little concerned) 

 58% of residents understand either very well or quite well what is meant 

by Net Zero. 

 29% feel that it is achievable to become Net Zero by 2030.  However, 

25% said it isn’t achievable and 46% do not know if it’s achievable. 

 86% said that climate change is either somewhat, very or extremely 
important to them. 

 When asked what would help them to make changes to tackle climate 
change the most popular responses are  is more information (45%) and 

advice (45%) followed by financial help and incentives (39%). 

 All areas are considered to be important to prioritise by the vast majority 

of residents: 
- reduce waste and improving the use of resources (96% very or 

quite important), 

- the way we use our land, where we build and we build (96%)  
- the emissions from industry and agriculture (96%) 

- how we heat, power and build our homes (96%) 
- the way we use energy (94%) 
- the way we travel and how goods are transported (93%) 

- how we improve and maintain our gardens, parks, countryside and 
the natural environment (92%) 

 The most important actions to tackling climate change are considered to 
be encouraging the reuse, repurposing and recycling of waste materials 

(98% very or quite important), followed minimising single use plastic in 
packaging or products (97%). Of least important is increasing the use of 
electric vehicles (80% important). 

 
The Plan 
 

7.16 The plan, which can be found at Appendix D, is intended to provide a clear 
vision and strategy for achieving net zero emissions from the district by 2030.  

 
Our Vision: Staffordshire Moorlands will become carbon neutral by 2030, 
taking into account emissions from both production and consumption 

 
Our Mission: Encouraging people, businesses and other organisations to do 

what they can to reduce their carbon footprint and making it easier, where we 
can, for those changes to happen. 

Page 8



  

 
Our Strategy: We will use our tools, levers and powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; applying our 

values and seeking opportunities to deliver co-benefits. 
 

7.17 The Carbon hierarchy recognises that some actions are better than others in 
terms of producing more lasting reductions in emissions. Our plan considers 
ways of avoiding emissions before thinking about ways of removing emissions 

or offsetting them. 
 

7.18 The 7 Ways to Net Zero is the local framework that we have developed to 
provide a structured response to reducing carbon emissions. It encourages us 
to consider actions under 7 main headings: 

 

 The Way We Live 

 The Way We Travel 

 The Way We Work 

 The Way We Make Energy 

 The Way We Look After Our Environment 

 The Way We Manage Waste, and 

 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur. 
 

7.19 The plan also sets out the values that we will adopt when delivering our plan. 
This includes following the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 

Change and committing to: 
 

 put inclusive climate action at the centre of our decision-making to create 

thriving and equitable communities for everyone; and 

 inviting our partners – political, business and community leaders; statutory 

organisations; trade unions; civic society and community members – to join 
us in recognising the global climate emergency and help us deliver on 

science-based action to overcome it. 
 
Next Steps 

 
7.20 It is inevitable that our actions and approach will change over the time as we 

grow to understand more about addressing climate change and in response to 
legislative changes and funding opportunities. The plan is designed to provide 
a framework for responding to such opportunities and emerging threats: 

 
7.21 We have identified several actions that need to take place over the next 12 

months: 
 

 Further develop our approach to target setting including milestones for 

action.  

 Recruit a Climate Change Officer 

 Enhance our monitoring procedures to make sure that the actions that 
we are taking are having an impact 

 Embed Climate Change activity within the Council’s annual budget and 
Medium-Term Financial Plan. 

Page 9



  

 Include mandatory Carbon Literacy/Awareness training for all new 
Council employees and become a Carbon Literate organisation. 

 Analyse the Council’s procurement emissions (due December 2021)1 

 Prepare a land and rural emissions profile (due December 2021) 

 Conduct a district-wide pathway analysis (due December 2021)1 

 Prepare and deliver a Communications and Engagement Plan. 
 

7.22 We began delivering our communications plan in the run-up to COP26 and we 
will continue with this delivery during COP26 and afterwards. This will  

include publishing a plain English summary of the approved Part 2 plan in 
January 2022 along with a request for people who live, work or learn in the 
district to commit to one or more pledges to reduce their carbon footprint. 

 
7.23 Our engagement activity will also begin during COP 26 with a series of events. 

Activities include an affordable warmth webinar arranged with Beat the Cold; 
an Air Aware Roadshow in collaboration with Staffordshire County Council, 
litter picks and general tidy ups and mindfulness walks 

 
7.24 This activity will be followed swiftly by a series of on-line workshops, delivered 

by Anthesis, to present the findings of their research and develop ideas for 

further action that can be incorporated into the next refresh of our action plan. 
Arrangements for these workshops are currently being finalised with Anthesis 

but the draft programme is provided below: 
 

Session Attendees Theme Date 
Session 
length 

1 Council officers All sectors Nov/Dec 19 3 hours 

2 Councillors All sectors Dec 19/Jan 20 2 hours 

3 

Residents, 

Community and 
Youth Groups 

Buildings 
Transport 

Waste 
Energy Supply Jan 20 2 hours 

4 

Businesses & 

private services All sectors Jan 20 2 hours 
 

Page 10



Appendix A: Recommendations from the Working Groups 

A) Natural Environment 

1) In order to increase tree canopy covering urban areas ,all new housing 

developments in the Moorlands should have a significant tree canopy cover. The 

Council should commit to stating that a maximum of trees should be planted for for 

every new house constructed, say five or six trees  

This should be achieved through a Supplementary Planning Document. 

In order to protect existing trees in urban settings, the Council should replace every 

tree removed by the planting of three new trees.. 

This proposal was intended to be in Part One of our climate change strategy and 

was approved by both the Natural Environment and Housing sub.groups. 

I was asked to submit this in writing to the full Climate Change group for a vote. . 

However, the proposal was never voted on and in effect it was blocked. 

It could still be introduced retrospectively into Part one or reconsidered for inclusion 

into Part Two 

2) Staffordshire Moorlands Council should delegate money to town and parish 

councils to produce their own mini climate action plans,  eg tree planting, wild flower 

meadows and rewilding This would increase awareness of climate change and 

encourage a sense of ownership of local schemes. 

It would be unfair to expect councils with very low financial resources to deliver 

climate change objectives without support from SMDC. This proposal would lead to 

significant  

Carbon capture across the whole of the Moorlands and sums delegated would be 

clearly earmarked for climate change. 

This is a Part Two proposal 

3). SMDC should take the opportunity to plant trees on all council owned propert 

where this is feasible.This proposal would not in itself lead to significant carbon 

capture, but it would be relatively inexpensive and more importantly it would 

demonstrate to our partners that we are totally committed to combatting Climate 

Change. 

This should be included in Part one Scheme. 

4). Where utility companies do remove trees to enable them to carry out 

maintenance work, the Council should have a policy of asking these companies to 

replace these trees at their own cost. This may be legally unenforceable, but we 

could stress that it would be seen as an act of goodwill on the part of the utilities. 

Page 11



B) Housing Subgroup 

 

1) Existing Homes 
 

As the insulation of existing homes was considered crucial to meet our climate 
objectives, the initial discussions focussed on promotion of the Green Homes Grant. 
However, this Government scheme was ultimately axed in March 2021 after just 6 

months of operation. As the Green Homes Grant was withdrawn during the time that 
the Housing Sub Group was meeting the group regretted the ending of the initiative, 

but as it had been poorly conceived and poorly managed it seemed inevitable. 
 
Addressing the poor insulation and inefficient heating systems of the large, old and 

draughty housing of the Moorlands is a massively expensive undertaking, well 
beyond the resources of SMDC alone as such the group agreed that the Council 

should use its influence in a variety of ways to strongly promote any successor 
schemes to the GHG that encourage the insulation of existing homes across the 
District as well as the installation of other green energy solutions.  

 
2) New Homes 

 
The group discussed at length the potential for the Council to develop it’s own 
Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and examined excellent 

examples of these from other places, notably the one from Guildford which can be 
downloaded here: 

 
https://www.guildford.gov.uk/media/32748/Climate-Change-Sustainable-Design-
Construction-and-Energy- 

SPD/pdf/Climate_Change__Sustainable_Design__Construction_and_Energy_SPD1.
pdf?m=637370643994400000 

 
It should be noted that since the Housing Group stopped meeting, our neighbouring 
authority, the similarly second-tier, District Council in the Derbyshire Dales has 

adopted their own Climate Change SPD which can be viewed here. 
 

https://www.derbyshiredales.gov.uk/images/documents/C/Climate_Change_SPD_Jul
y_2021_-_final.pdf 
 

This is clearly an action that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council can as the 
Local Planning Authority undertake on its own and is one that will shape all future 

development in the Moorlands, including all new housing.  
 
The argument is essentially that climate-focussed improvements to national policy, in 

the form of the NPPF and Building Regulations, whilst welcomed does not preclude 
the development of our own locally-focussed planning guidance designed to help 

attain our own very ambitious target of 2030, which is significantly more imminent 
than that of the UK Government. 
 

As a result of all of this it was unanimously agreed that the Council should proceed 
to produce our own locally focussed Climate Change and Sustainable Design SPD 

to shape all future development and ensure that it meets our climate objectives. 

Page 12



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

STAFFORDSHIRE 
MOORLANDS DISTRICT 
COUNCIL

SCATTER Emissions Baselining

August 2021

P
age 13



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

Introduction

Page 5

01
SCATTER Emissions 

Inventory

Page 9

02
Carbon Budget 

Analysis

Page 20

03

Appendices

Page 24

04

CONTENTS

P
age 14



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

01 IntroductionP
age 15



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
REPORT OVERVIEW & SCOPE

4

This report was commissioned by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, 
who declared a climate emergency in 2019 and are in the process of 
developing a climate action plan to tackle emissions from the council’s 
operations and that of the district.

The report is structured as follows:

o Chapter 1 provides the context for climate change action and sets out 
past emissions trends and performance 

o Chapter 2 provides an emissions inventory for both areas, as defined by 
the SCATTER Inventory tool

o Chapter 3 provides a carbon budget for energy system emissions, based 
on research carried out by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 
Research at the University of Manchester. 

The aim of this report is to support Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
in achieving its district-wide target of becoming carbon neutral by 2030, by 
meeting the following objectives: 

1. Provide a robust baseline assessment of area-wide emissions that is 
aligned to international reporting standards

2. Use this information to inform the urgency and scale of action required 
to remain in line with the Paris Agreement 

3. Identify high-level priorities for the council to consider moving forwards 
as next steps

The scope of this report includes emissions from the consumption of solid, 

liquid and gaseous fuels within the area boundary of Staffordshire 

Moorlands. Figures quoted in the body of the report represent direct and 

indirect emissions arising from energy consumption within the area 

boundary.

Background & context

Commitments to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions have been made 

at various levels of government in recent years. 

In 2015, the Paris Agreement set the international target to limit global 

temperature increase to “well-below 2oC above pre-industrial levels”. A 

follow up report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

(IPCC) found that this requires a reduction in GHG emissions of around 45% 

by 2030 against a 2010 baseline. 

Within the UK, legislation has been in place since 2008 which sets 

reductions targets for national emissions. The Climate Change Act was 

subsequently strengthened in 2019 to reflect a more ambitious target of 

achieving carbon neutrality no later than 2050. In late 2020, the UK 

Committee on Climate Change (CCC) Sixth Carbon Budget set out further 

targets to achieve at least a 78% reduction in emissions no later than 2035 

(against a 1990 baseline). 

P
age 16

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/


Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
EMISSIONS HISTORY

5

Local commitment to action on reducing climate change was reflected in 

council declarations in 2019. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

committed to a carbon neutral target of 2030 for the district, with the 

stated aim of developing a Carbon Neutrality and Climate Resilience Plan. 

Emissions history

Each year, the government publish data on local authority area emissions, 

documenting the GHG impact of in-boundary fuel consumption. Over time, 

these can be assessed for trends in performance. By 2019, national 

emissions had fallen by around 45% against 1990 levels, largely thanks to 

the removal of carbon-intensive fuels such as coal from the energy mix 

used to supply electricity to households. 

Figure 1.1 opposite shows the historic performance for Staffordshire 

Moorlands from 2005-19, based on statistics published by the Government 

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). Since 2010, 

emissions in Staffordshire Moorlands have fallen around 31% if excluding 

large industrial sites, motorways, land use and railway emissions. 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

2
0
1
6

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
8

2
0
1
9

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
)

Figure 1.1: Historic emissions from BEIS for Staffordshire Moorlands. Subset total 

data refers to the grand total figure minus large industrial sites, motorways, land 

use and railway emissions. 

P
age 17



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
UNDERSTANDING BEIS DATASETS

6

Historic BEIS datasets are useful in observing trends and changes to 
emissions over time, since they provide the means for comparing the 
emissions impact of various activities across different years. 

It can however be difficult to judge whether some changes in emissions 
from one year to another are due to changes in activity or if they represent 
differences in the scope of reporting for different disclosure schemes. 
Since reporting scopes for schemes such as the EU Emissions Trading 
Scheme (EU ETS) are updated periodically, and the associated emissions 
relate to one specific site in many cases, this can pose challenges when 
considering emissions from large industrial sites. This is especially relevant 
to High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, both of whom record significant 
emissions from large industrial installations. 

Introducing SCATTER

SCATTER is an emissions baselining and modelling tool that is free to use 
for local authorities in the UK. The tool provides estimates for emissions, 
broken down by scope, considering a broader range of GHGs than BEIS 
figures and adopting slightly different methodologies for the calculation of 
emissions in some sectors. 

The tool was developed in partnership with BEIS, local authorities and the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. A summary of the differences 
between BEIS and SCATTER emissions data can be found in Appendix 2.

One of the more significant benefits of using SCATTER data is that the tool 
is aligned to international reporting frameworks. Figures within SCATTER 
are developed according to guidance in the GHG Protocol for Cities. 

Activities and figures required for specific reporting frameworks have been 

highlighted in Appendix 1, and it is worth noting that the totals quoted 

within Chapter 2 represent a broader “basket” of emissions than is required 

for the most basic reporting standards.

Adoption of the GHG Protocol guidance means that the methodologies 

adopted within SCATTER are different to those used by BEIS in some cases, 

which can lead to differences and deviations in figures quoted for the same 

emissions category. 

P
age 18

https://ghgprotocol.org/greenhouse-gas-protocol-accounting-reporting-standard-cities


Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

02 SCATTER 
Emissions 
Inventory

P
age 19



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

8

In 2018, Staffordshire Moorlands’ in-boundary emissions totalled 905 

ktCO2e. The majority resulted from buildings (61%), on-road transport 

(19%) and livestock (22%).

This emissions inventory has been calculated from the SCATTER Inventory 

tool. The figures shown opposite represents emissions from a specified set 

of activities within the district boundary.1

The remainder of this section provides a breakdown of each of the sectors 

defined opposite, with a more detailed description of each emissions 

source. 

Differences with BEIS data

The SCATTER Inventory tool provides emissions data for a slightly different 

range of activities than is reported under BEIS statistics and is aligned to 

international reporting frameworks. 

The differences between SCATTER and BEIS datasets are discussed in more 

detail in Appendix 2. SCATTER considers emissions from multiple 

greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and methane 

with the data opposite relating to the 2018 reporting year. The emissions 

inventory only includes emissions generated within Staffordshire Moorlands 

(Scopes 1 & 2). 

A full data table can be found in Appendix 1.

Buildings (61%)

Transport (17%)

Waste (1%)

Figure 2.6: SCATTER inventory for Staffordshire Moorlands, showing emissions 

included under the BASIC reporting framework. 

Miscellaneous emissions (21%)

Total: 905 ktCO2e

P
age 20



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

Residential buildings

Emissions from residential buildings totalled 169 ktCO2e within Staffordshire 

Moorlands in 2018. This figure estimates emissions arising from the consumption 

of energy in residential buildings of all types and tenures, including social 

housing, rented accommodation and privately-owned properties. In 2018, there 

were an estimated 39,700 households1 in Staffordshire Moorlands.

The most significant source of emissions from households comes from the use of 

energy for heating and hot water. Most of this is achieved through natural gas 

consumption, with gas demand for heating making up 51% of residential building 

emissions. The second most significant source of emissions is the use of grid-

supplied electricity to the district for lighting, appliances and cooking, which 

makes up around 19% of residential emissions. The remainder is made up of 

small contributions from other fuel types. 

Emissions from residential buildings can be mitigated by improving the energy 

efficiency of households through retrofitting measures, which reduce the 

overall demand for energy to heat the district’s homes. Switching to low-carbon 

heating systems, such as heat pumps, is another means of reducing domestic 

emissions.  

9

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

Figure 2.7: Residential emissions as a proportion of the district-wide profile (left). A 

breakdown of the split between direct and indirect residential emissions (right).   

123

46

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Direct Indirect

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

1 – ONS, Estimate number of households in the local and unitary 

authorities of England and Wales (2018)

P
age 21

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/adhocs/11620estimatednumberofhouseholdsinthelocalandunitaryauthoritiesofenglandandwalescouncilareasofscotlandandlocalgovernmentdistrictsofnorthernireland2012to2018


Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

Non-residential buildings

The most significant contributor to Staffordshire Moorlands’ emissions is the 

non-residential buildings sector, totalling 383 ktCO2e across commercial, 

institutional and industrial buildings in 2018:

o Commercial buildings & facilities include buildings from which businesses 

operate such as shops and retail parks, offices, restaurants 

o Institutional buildings & facilities include public sector buildings such as 

schools, health centres, hospitals, leisure centres, council buildings and so 

on

o Industrial buildings & facilities include sites such as factories, warehouses 

and workshops associated with manufacture and engineering

o Fugitive emissions are also classified under this category – these emissions 

relate to irregular leaks of greenhouse gases from equipment and containers

The most significant source of emissions from non-residential buildings is coal 

consumption in industrial buildings, likely due to the activities of 4 working 

quarries in the district. Contributions from coal consumption make up 

approximately 35% of all non-residential buildings emissions. 

As with residential buildings, the next most significant contributions to these 

totals is natural gas consumption for heating and hot water (c. 16%) and 

electricity for appliances, lighting and cooking (c.20%). 

Emissions from non-residential buildings can be mitigated in much the same 

way as residential buildings; improving energy efficiency through retrofit, as 

well as switching to low-carbon heating systems.

10

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

Figure 2.8: Non-residential building emissions as a proportion of the district-wide profile 

(left). A breakdown of the split between direct and indirect non-residential building 

emissions (right).   

Commercial buildings & facilities

Institutional buildings & facilities

Industrial buildings & facilities

Fugitive emissions

23
38

18
8

235

46

14

0

50

100

150

200

250

Direct Indirect

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

P
age 22



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

Transport

Emissions from transport totalled 150 ktCO2e in 2018. SCATTER measures 

emissions from the following activities:

o On-road transport emissions are measured from all forms of on-road 

passenger vehicle, including cars, vans, motorcycles, buses and taxis. 

o Waterborne navigation describes emissions from transport along the 

district’s waterways according to the length of available throughfares 

o Off-road transport describes emissions from land vehicles that are not 

classified as “on-road”

On-road transport dominates the emissions in this sector; DfT data indicates 

that over 4.7 billion vehicle miles were driven across Staffordshire’s roads in 

2018. The proportion of electric vehicles in the district has grown significantly 

in recent years, but still constitutes less than 1% of the overall number of 

registered vehicles.

Mitigating transport emissions can be achieved by a combination of modal shift 

to more active modes of travel such as cycling and walking, as well as the 

transition to electric vehicles from petrol and diesel. 

11

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

Figure 2.9: Transport emissions as a proportion of the district-wide profile (left). A 

breakdown of the split between different subsectors of transport emissions (right).

147

1 1
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Direct

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

On-road

Rail (diesel)

Waterborne navigation

Off-road

P
age 23



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 12

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

Waste 

Emissions from waste totalled 12 ktCO2e in 2018. SCATTER measures emissions 

from the following activities:

o Solid waste disposal emissions are associated with the treatment of 

commercial, industrial and municipal waste through various means, 

including incineration, open- and closed-loop recycling and composting

o Wastewater emissions are associated with the biological processes used to 

treat and manage liquid waste. 

According to DEFRA statistics for FY18/19, Staffordshire Moorlands saw a 

recycling rate of 56%, with an average of 396kg of collected waste per resident.  

Miscellaneous emissions

SCATTER also measures emissions across smaller sectors of activity, categorized 

for the purposes of this report under miscellaneous. This category and the 

associated emissions stem from: 

o Industrial processes (40 ktCO2e) which describes emissions from all non-

energy related processes in industrial facilities, such as manufacturing and 

production of chemicals, metals and minerals

o Net livestock and land use (151 ktCO2e) which accounts for emissions from 

rearing livestock and manure management netted off against emissions 

sequestered by the natural environment

o Local renewable generation (<0.5 ktCO2e) which accounts for emissions as a 

result of local plant biomass and anaerobic digestors

Figure 2.10: Waste & miscellaneous emissions as a proportion of the district-wide 

profile (left). A breakdown of the split between different subsectors of emissions (right). 

Land use emissions (dashed green) are negative in Staffordshire Moorlands – figures 

quoted in the initial profile take the net figure of livestock and land use emissions. 

6 6

40

170

-19

<1

-50

0

50

100

150

200

Direct

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

Solid waste disposal

Wastewater treatment and discharge

Industrial process

Livestock

Land use

Local renewable generation

P
age 24



DRAFT

03 Carbon Budget 
Analysis

P
age 25



DRAFT

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS 
INTRODUCTION

14

This chapter discusses future emissions in terms of a carbon budget approach, 

based on research by the Tyndall Centre at the University of Manchester. 

This means that the pathway taken to carbon neutrality is as important as the 

selected target date, since different pathways will reach the target having 

emitted different amounts of cumulative emissions along the way. This 

highlights the importance of the annual reduction rate when considering 

carbon budgets. 
What is a carbon budget?

A carbon budget is a fixed limit of cumulative emissions that are allowed 

within a given time, in order that increases in average global surface 

temperatures remain within a certain threshold. 

The budget approach

When considering future routes to carbon neutrality, it is important to 

introduce the concept of a carbon budget.

This approach highlights the importance of cumulative carbon emissions,

since emissions now mean impacts later. Once emitted, carbon dioxide 

remains in the atmosphere for many decades, contributing to increasing the 

average global temperature. This means that the carbon budget does not 

reset; it represents a fixed upper limit to emissions. 

This approach is analogous to a monthly payday cheque, in the sense that 

the budget can be spent on the first day after getting paid, or be stretched 

out over the course of the month. Once it is “spent” (or in the case of a 

carbon budget, emitted) there is no budget left. 

Total cumulative emissions along 

each pathway

Rapid reductions: 1,995 ktCO2

Steady reductions: 3,500 ktCO2

Delayed reductions: 4,550 ktCO2

1,000 

ktCO2

Figure 3.1: Illustrative example of a carbon budget approach for a starting point of 

1,000ktCO2. Although all three of these hypothetical pathways reach net zero carbon 

by the same target date, the cumulative emissions (i.e. the carbon budget) associated 

with each pathway is significantly different. 

20302020

P
age 26



DRAFT 15

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS
TYNDALL CENTRE RESEARCH

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, based at the University of 

Manchester, have carried out an assessment for each UK local authority in 

terms of their “fair” contribution towards remaining in line with the Paris 

Agreement. 

The Paris Agreement’s “well-below 2oC” scenario sets an upper limit on 

allowed global emissions. Tyndall Centre academics have scaled this 

emissions ceiling down, allowing local authorities to understand the scale 

and extent to which they must reduce their emissions between the present 

and their target year for carbon neutrality. 

A more detailed description of the Tyndall Centre’s approach can be found in 

Appendix 3.

There are however a number of noteworthy caveats to make when 

considering carbon budget analysis:

o Emissions from agriculture and land use are not directly taken into 

account when calculating local authority budgets, instead being 

considered at the national level 

o The budget applies to energy system emissions only – cement 

manufacturing is not included within this analysis

o Non-CO2 emissions are also excluded from the analysis 

Key statistics at a glance – Staffordshire Moorlands

An annual reduction rate of 12.4% is recommended to keep 

Staffordshire Moorlands aligned with Paris Agreement targets

If Staffordshire Moorlands continue along a business-as-usual 

scenario, the carbon budget (2020 – 2100) will be exceeded by 

2027

According to BEIS statistics, between 2005 and 2019 the 

average annual emissions reduction rate in Staffordshire 

Moorlands figure was just over 2%

In light of the fact that SCATTER baselines include a broader basket of local 

authority emissions than is assessed by the carbon budget analysis, the key 

takeaway piece of information is the annual reduction rate of emissions. 

P
age 27



DRAFT 16

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS
CARBON BUDGET

Figure 3.3: Bar chart describing the Tyndall carbon budget, broken down into the 

periods defined in government reporting frameworks. The decline in emissions is 

based on the annual reduction rate of 12.4%.

2,400

1,200

600

300
100 100 100

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

2018-22 2023-27 2028-32 2033-37 2038-42 2043-47 2048-2100

C
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
 e

m
is

si
o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
)

Staffordshire Moorlands

The Tyndall Centre recommends that cumulative emissions from the energy 

system within Staffordshire Moorlands do not exceed 5,000ktCO2 over the 

period 2020-2100. Figure 3.3 illustrates carbon budget milestones based on 

the annual reduction rate for Staffordshire Moorlands.

For a full description of the differences between the SCATTER, BEIS and 

Tyndall Centre emissions data please see Appendix 2. 

Recommendations and Next Steps

Following the exploration of Staffordshire Moorland’s emissions baseline and 

carbon budgets in this report, it is recommended that the council develops a 

roadmap to meet the 2030 net zero target.

To do this, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council should next look to:

1. Understand the type of measures needed to reduce emissions in the 

districts aligned to the 2030 net zero target

2. Estimate the scale and speed of implementing measures needed and 

engage internal stakeholders to understand what this means for the 

districts

3. Work with key external stakeholders such as residents, businesses and 

other organisations to develop an action plan 

4. Continue to measure and report on the district’s emissions against KPIs to 

track progress 

P
age 28



DRAFT

04 Appendices

Appendix Page Number

Appendix 1 – Emissions Data Tables Page 25

Appendix 2 – Differences between 

SCATTER & BEIS inventories
Page 27

Appendix 3 – Tyndall Centre carbon 

budget methodology
Page 28

P
age 29



Staffordshire Moorlands district Council 

APPENDIX 1
EMISSIONS DATA TABLES –
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

18

Sector
Scope 1 & 2 

Emissions, ktCO2

Industry and Commercial Electricity 77.1

Industry and Commercial Gas 84.2

Large Industrial Installations 612.0

Industrial and Commercial Other 

Fuels 38.9

Agriculture 24.2

Domestic Electricity 38.4

Domestic Gas 101.5

Domestic 'Other Fuels' 33.0

Road Transport (A roads) 101.0

Road Transport (Motorways) -

Road Transport (Minor roads) 65.4

Diesel Railways 0.6

Transport Other 5.6

LULUCF Net Emissions -18.7

Grand Total 1,163.3

Sub Sector Direct, ktCO2e
Indirect, 

ktCO2e

Residential buildings 123.20 46.17

Commercial buildings & facilities 22.71 38.08

Institutional buildings & facilities 18.28 8.27

Industrial buildings & facilities 235.13 46.48

Agricultural fuels - -

Fugitive emissions 13.91 -

On-road 147.06 IE   

Rail 0.00 IE   

Waterborne navigation 1.38 IE   

Aviation 0.00 IE   

Off-road 1.47 IE   

Solid waste disposal 6.04 -

Biological treatment NO   -

Incineration and open burning NO   -

Wastewater 5.79 -

Industrial process 40.00 -

Product use 0.00 -

Livestock 169.50 -

Land use -18.72 -

Other AFOLU NE   -

Electricity-only generation NO   -

CHP generation NO   -

Heat/cold generation NO   -

Local renewable generation 0.40 NO   

Sub-total 766.14 139.00

Grand total 905.14

Notes:

• BEIS data (left) and SCATTER data (right) are 

compiled using different methodologies.

• Within the SCATTER model, national figures 

for emissions within certain sectors are scaled 

down to a local authority level based upon a 

series of assumptions and factors taken from 

fuel consumption data, as opposed to being 

directly quoted emissions data. This is 

particularly of note in the large industrial 

installations subcategory.

• BASIC and BASIC+ frameworks relate to 

international reporting standards as set out in 

the GHG Protocol for Cities. 

• BASIC+ framework also requires disclosure of 

Scope 3 (“Other”) emissions for the built 

environment and transport sectors. These are 

available within the full SCATTER inventory 

available at www.scattercities.com

IE = Included Elsewhere

NE = Not Estimated

NO = Not Occurring

Included under BASIC framework

Included under BASIC+ framework

P
age 30

http://www.scattercities.com/


APPENDIX 2
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BEIS & 
SCATTER INVENTORIES

19

Why does the BEIS summary differ from the SCATTER summary? 

• The BEIS summary represents CO2 only; SCATTER also includes 

emissions factors for other greenhouse gases such as Nitrous 

Oxide (N20) and Methane (CH4). These are reported as a CO2 

’equivalents (e)’.

• The BEIS summary does not provide scope split; SCATTER 

reports emissions by scope 1, 2, and 3 (i.e. direct, indirect or 

other categories) and includes more scopes than BEIS summary.

• The BEIS summary categories are not directly consistent or 

mapped to the BEIS LA fuel data which is available as a 

separate data set. SCATTER uses published fuel data and applies 

current-year emissions factors, whereas the BEIS data 

calculations scale down national emissions in each transport 

area. Specifically for road transport, BEIS data splits total 

emissions across road type; SCATTER uses total fuel consumption 

for on-road transport per LA.

• Different treatment of ‘rural’ emissions i.e. Agriculture, 

Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) and Land Use, Land Use 

Change & Forestry (LULUCF) categories are derived from 

different underlying data sets.

SCATTER BEIS

Summary 1. Latest GHG Inventory by subsector

2. Pathways for emissions to 2050

Latest CO2 Inventory by 

subsector

Purpose 1. To provide each LA with an 

accurate current baseline in a 

standardised format according to 

international guidelines.

2. To model scenarios for emissions 

reduction to 2050 based on the 

baseline emissions and selected 

interventions, to support LA climate 

action planning.

To provide each LA with an 

accurate current baseline of CO2

emissions in a standardised 

format across the UK.

Scopes covered Scope 1, Scope 2 and some Scope 3. Scope 1 and 2 only.

Sources covered Stationary Energy 

Transport 

Waste 

Industrial Processes and Product Use 

Agriculture, Forestry and Land use 

Generation of grid-supplied energy

Industrial and Commercial

Domestic

Transport

Sources excluded Scope 3 emissions from Biological 

treatment, Incineration & open 

burning of waste and Wastewater.

Scope 3 emissions from Electricity-

only, Heat/cold and Local renewable 

generation.

Scope 3 fugitive emissions.

Energy generation, Waste, Off-

road transport, Rail transport, 

Waterborne navigation, Aviation.

P
age 31



Schematic showing how the global carbon 

budget is scaled to a local authority (LA) level. 

Bars/boxes in the diagram are not to sized scale 

of budgets 

APPENDIX 3
TYNDALL CARBON BUDGET 
METHODOLOGY

20

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, 

based at the University of Manchester, have 

translated the Paris Agreement targets of limiting 

temperature change below 1.5°C into a fixed 

emissions ‘budget’ for each local authority. 

The carbon budget defines a finite emissions limit 

that should not be exceeded in order that each 

local authority plays its full part in adhering to 

the Paris Agreement. 

The global budget is taken from the IPCC Special 

Report on 1.5°C and represents the latest IPCC 

estimate of the quantity of CO2 that can be 

emitted whilst remaining consistent with keeping 

global temperatures below 2°C. 

Global “well below” 2°C emissions budget

Global energy-only emissions budget

Global LULUCF & 

cement processing 

emissions

Rest of the world energy-only emissions budget 

(c. 99.4%)

UK emissions budget (c. 

0.6%)

UK 

aviation & 

shipping

UK energy-only 

budget

LA energy-

only budget

LA LULUCF 

budgetLink to full carbon budget report for Staffordshire 

Moorlands

P
age 32

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000198/


APPENDIX 3
TYNDALL CARBON BUDGET 
METHODOLOGY

21

Methodology Notes

• Budget derived from IPCC AR5 synthesis report and represents a 66-100% probability of global warming not exceeding 2°C (“well below”). Due to the 

inertia in our energy systems and the amount of carbon we have already emitted, the Paris 1.5°C commitment is now only likely to be viable if 

negative emissions technologies (NETs) prove to be successful at a global scale. If the emissions reduction rates for High Peak and Staffordshire 

Moorlands are achieved and NETs are deployed at the scales assumed in the global models, then the targets adopted may be considered as a 1.5°C 

compatible. This also expressly assumes that other carbon cycle feedbacks, such as methane released due to melting permafrost etc., do not occur, 

and that an overshoot of 1.5°C does not result in increased feedbacks that further accelerate warming at lower budgets than the IPCC budgets 

currently estimate.  

• LULUCF stands for Land Use, Land Use Change & Forestry 

• UK Aviation & Shipping is accounted for at the national level. If emissions due to aviation and shipping increases, then a smaller proportion of the UK-

wide budget is available for the energy-only budget and vice versa. 

Negative Emissions Technologies (NETs)

NETs remain a highly speculative and uncertain development and are leaned upon heavily in IPCC models. 

If research, development and demonstration of NETs shows that they may work at scale, and then they are rolled out globally at unprecedented rates, 

1.5°C may theoretically be achievable. However, this is only made possible if rapid, deep 2°C mitigation begins now, and additional feedbacks do not 

occur. 

Exclusions from this budget

A key omission from this budget are emissions from aviation and shipping – the budget considers only the energy system. This “energy-only” budget also 

excludes emissions from land use, land change and forestry, as well as cement manufacturing.

The nature of aviation & shipping emissions means that responsibility is not attributed to individual authorities, but is instead accounted for at the UK 

level, as a “national overhead”. The Tyndall Centre analysis assumes that UK emissions from aviation remain constant up until 2030, followed by a steady 

reduction towards net zero carbon by 2075. 

P
age 33



Disclaimer

Anthesis (UK) Limited has prepared this report for the sole use of the client (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council) and for the intended purposes as stated in the agreement between Anthesis

and the client under which this report was completed. Anthesis has exercised due and customary care in preparing this report but has not, save as specifically stated, independently verified

information provided by others. No other warranty, express or implied, is made in relation to the contents of this report. The use of this report, or reliance on its content, by unauthorised third

parties without written permission from Anthesis shall be at their own risk, and Anthesis accepts no duty of care to such third parties. Any recommendations, opinions or findings stated in this

report are based on facts and circumstances as they existed at the time the report was prepared. Any changes in such facts and circumstances may adversely affect the recommendations,

opinions or findings contained in this report.

22

P
age 34



Climate Change Attitude Survey
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Report

October 2021

P
age 35



Objectives and approach

Area % of interviews Number of interviews
Leek 30% 150
Biddulph 30% 150
Cheadle 30% 150
Werrington, Forsbrook, 
Cheddleton, etc

10% 50

TOTAL 100% 500

Age % of interviews Number of Interviews
18 - 24 9% 43
25 - 44 28% 143
45 - 64 37% 184
65+ 26% 130
Total 100% 500

Gender % of interviews Number of Interviews
Male 49% 245
Female 51% 255
Total 100% 500

 500 telephone interviews with the general public
 Random Digit Dialling approach – where we purchase a list of random telephone 

numbers with the relevant postcodes in order to achieve the required sample
 Fieldwork conducted between 6th – 26th September 2021
 Quotas were imposed as follows

P
age 36



Objectives and approach

 The objectives of the research were as follows:

- to assess the level of concern of impact of climate change on the district
- to assess the level of concern over a number of factors affected by climate change
- to determine understanding of the term Net Zero
- to gather views on whether it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030
- to determine the public’s importance towards tackling climate change
- to determine the likelihood of taking actions to tackle climate change
- to find out what help required to make changed towards tackling climate change and 

achieving net zero
- to determine the importance of different factors in tackling climate change

P
age 37



Question 1a. How concerned are you about the impact of climate change 
on our District?
% respondents

Base: (500)

• 86% of residents (over 4 in 5) 
are either very or a little 
concerned about the impact 
of climate change of the 
district.

• 13% (around 1 in 8) are not 
concerned at all.

• Men are least likely to be 
concerned (19% not 
concerned at all compared to 
7% of women) as are those 
living in Leek (18% not 
concerned).

1

13

41

45

Don't believe in climate change

Not concerned at all

A little concerned

Very concerned

P
age 38



Question 1b. How concerned are you about the following in relation to 
climate change?

% respondents

Base: (430. those who were concerned with climate change)

38

38

47

47

47

52

63

63

35

36

34

38

40

38

28

29

27

26

19

15

12

10

9

7

Climate refugees

Flooding

Disease

Rising temperatures

Species extinction

Environment destruction

Extreme weather

Loss of animals, plants, habitats
and biodiversity

Very concerned A little concerned Not concerned at all• Over 7 in 10 residents are 
concerned to some extent 
about all aspects of climate 
change.

• Of most concern are:
- loss of animals, plants, 
habitats and biodiversity 
(93%)

- extreme weather (91%)
- environment destruction 
(90% very or a little 
concerned)

P
age 39



Question 2. How well do you think you understand what is meant by being 
Net Zero?

% respondents

Base: (500)

5

22

16

37

21

Don't know

Not well at all

Not at all well

Quite well

Very well

• Just under 6 in 10 (58%) of 
residents understand either 
very well or quite well what is 
meant by Net Zero.

• Younger residents (those 
under 44 years) are more 
likely to understand what it 
meant (72% of 18-24s* and 
73% of 24- 44s compared to 
54% of 45 – 64s and 43% of 
over 65s) as are men (64% 
compared to 50% of women).

*caution: small sample size

P
age 40



Question 3. Do you think it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030?
% respondents

Base: (1000)

46

25

29

Don't know

No

Yes

• Just under 3 in 10 (29%) feel 
that it is achievable to become 
Net Zero by 2030.

• However, a quarter (25%) said 
it isn’t achievable and 46% do 
not know.

• Younger residents (those 
under 44 years) are more 
likely to think it was achievable 
(53% of 18-24s* and 48% of 
24- 44s compared to 17% of 
45 – 64s and 18% of over 65s) 
as were men (34% compared 
to 25% of women). 

• The main reasons given for 
not thinking it is achievable 
are:
- not enough time
- big businesses not doing 

enough
- Not all individuals are on 

board
- Other countries not doing 

enough
- Public transport is poor

*caution: small sample size

P
age 41



Question 4. How important is tackling climate change to you?
% respondents

Base: (1000)

3

11

22

38

26

Not at all important

Not very important

Somewhat important

Very important

Extremely important

• 86% said that climate change 
is important to them (either 
somewhat, very or extremely)

• Approximately 1 in 7 people 
(14%) do not think it’s 
important. 

• There are no differences by 
age, gender or area.

P
age 42



Question 5. How likely is it you will take action on climate change?
% respondents

Base: (1000)

2

14

19

41

23

Very unlikely

Unlikely

Neither likely nor unlikely

Likely

Very likely

• Just under two thirds (64%) 
said it is likely (either very 
likely or likely) that they will 
take action on climate 
change. Whereas around 1 in 
6 (16%) said that they are 
unlikely to take action.   

• Those aged under 44 are 
most likely to say they are 
going to take action (100% of 
18-24s* and 76% of 25 – 44s 
compared to 60% of 45-64s 
and 48% of over 65s)

* caution: small sample size

P
age 43



Question 6. What would help you make changes to tackle climate change 
and achieve a Net Zero Staffordshire Moorlands by 2030?

% respondents

Base: (1000)

• When asked what would help 
them to make changes to 
tackle climate change the 
most popular responses are
more information (45%) and 
advice (45%) followed by 
financial help and incentives 
(39%).  20% said that they 
did not need any help as they 
know what they needed to do
and a further 7% said that 
they don’t intend to make any 
changes.

7

20

10

16

39

45

45

Don’t intend to make any 
changes

Don't need any help – I know 
what I need to do

Other

Support from voluntary and
community groups

Financial help and incentives

Advice

More information

P
age 44



Question 7. How important do you think it is to prioritise the following to 
tackle climate change in the district?

% respondents

Base: (1000)

62

59

69

67

73

72

81

30

34

25

29

23

24

15

7

7

6

4

4

3

2

0

0

1

0

2

How we improve and maintain
our gardens, parks, countryside

and the natural environment

The way we travel and how goods
are transported

The way we use energy

How we heat, power and build
our homes

The emissions from industry and
agriculture

The way we use our land, where
we build and what we build

Reducing waste and improving
the use of resources

Very important Quite important Not very important Not at all important
• When shown a list of actions 

to tackle climate change over 
9 in 10 think they are all 
important to prioritise.
- reduce waste and 

improving the use of 
resources (96% very or 
quite important),

- the way we use our land, 
where we build and we 
build (96%) 

- the emissions from industry 
and agriculture (96%)

- how we heat, power and 
build our homes (96%)

- the way we use energy 
(94%)

- the way we travel and how 
goods are transported 
(93%)

- how we improve and 
maintain our gardens, 
parks, countryside and the 
natural environment (92%)

P
age 45



Question 8. How important do you think the following are for tackling 
climate in the district?

% respondents

Base: (1000)

56

65

62

63

66

71

75

73

78

81

73

75

79

89

84

24

25

29

29

26

21

18

21

17

14

23

21

17

8

14

14

8

7

4

5

6

5

4

4

4

4

3

3

2

2

Increasing the use of electric vehicles through for
example, more charging points

Encouraging walking and cycling

Encouraging home composting

Encouraging volunteering and supporting local
projects and groups

Supporting allotments and community gardens

Encouraging greater use of public transport

Planting trees in our towns and villages and in the
countryside

Increasing the use of renewable energy

Buying local and seasonal products

Making sure that new houses are energy efficient

Insulating and updating buildings and homes to
improve their energy performance and increase use…

Providing advice and support to businesses and
residents

Protecting our green spaces, habitats and wildlife

Minimising single use plastic in packaging or
products

Encouraging the reuse, repurposing and recycling of
waste materials

Very important Quite important Not very important Not at all important• When shown another list of 
actions to tackle climate 
change over 8 in 10 think 
they are all important.

• The most important are 
considered to be encouraging 
the reuse, repurposing and 
recycling of waste materials 
(98% very or quite important), 
followed minimising single 
use plastic in packaging or 
products (97%)

• Of least important is 
increasing the use of electric 
vehicles (80% important)

P
age 46



• 86% of residents are either very or a little concerned about the impact of climate change of the district, while 13% are 
not concerned at all.

• Of most concern are:
- loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity (93%)
- extreme weather (91%)
- environment destruction (90% very or a little concerned)

• 58% of residents understand either very well or quite well what is meant by Net Zero.
• 29% feel that it is achievable to become Net Zero by 2030.  However, 25% said it isn’t achievable and 46% do not 

know if it’s achievable.
• 86% said that climate change is either somewhat, very or extremely important to them.
• When asked what would help them to make changes to tackle climate change the most popular responses are  is 

more information (45%) and advice (45%) followed by financial help and incentives (39%).
• All areas are considered to be important to prioritise by the vast majority of residents:

- reduce waste and improving the use of resources (96% very or quite important),
- the way we use our land, where we build and we build (96%) 
- the emissions from industry and agriculture (96%)
- how we heat, power and build our homes (96%)
- the way we use energy (94%)
- the way we travel and how goods are transported (93%)
- how we improve and maintain our gardens, parks, countryside and the natural environment (92%)

• The most important actions to tackling climate change are considered to be encouraging the reuse, repurposing and 
recycling of waste materials (98% very or quite important), followed minimising single use plastic in packaging or 
products (97%). Of least important is increasing the use of electric vehicles (80% important)

Summary

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NET

AIMING LOW: THE 
WAY TO NET ZERO
2021 TO 2030

P
age 49



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

INTROducTION
Cllr Joe Porter –Cabinet Member for Climate 
Change and Biodiversity, Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council

The climate change nature crisis is the 
greatest threat that we face. It is a threat 
that impacts on all of us and on future 
generations. It is a threat that we need to 
respond to now, tomorrow and the days 
that follow with an unrelenting focus on 
preventing the emergencies.

This plan explains how Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council will contribute 
towards Staffordshire Moorlands becoming 
carbon neutral.

We want to be ambitious, but we must also 
be realistic about what the district council 
can and cannot do. 

We need everyone to come together to 
play their part if we are going to meet the 
ambitious target of becoming Net Zero.

We also need government to continue 
to build sustainability into key policies 
and laws such as the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Building Control 
Regulations. We need partners such as the 
County Council, which has responsibility 
for our roads, transport and education, to 
take a lead on the areas that they have 
responsibility for. Importantly, we also need 
our businesses, residents, community groups 

and visitors to play their part. We will do 
what we can to encourage a joined-up 
approach to tackling this vitally important 
issue that affects us all.

Please support our plan, we will only be 
able to tackle these emergencies if we work 
together. Every action that we can take, 
no matter how small can help. Let us all 
do what we can to respond to this global 
problem.

Title: Earth Warming Stripes 1850-2020, Ed Hawkins, University of Reading

57

P
age 50



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Councillor Sybil Ralphs MBE, Leader of 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

The Council’s decision to declare a climate 
emergency was unanimous and so is our 
resolve to tackle climate change. It is only 
by working together that we will achieve 
our target of being carbon neutral by 2030 
– and it is this sense of shared responsibility, 
collective unity and single purpose that 
underpins and gives strength to our goal.

Partnership is the key to success and we 
invite everyone who lives, learns or works 
in the Moorlands to join us in doing what 
they can to mitigate the impacts of climate 
change starting today. 

This document is intended to provide 
information, support and guidance to 
enable every one of us to play our part. It is 
amongst the most important things we will 
ever do.

OuR VISION

Staffordshire Moorlands will 
become carbon neutral by 2030, 
taking into account emissions 
from both production and 
consumption

OuR MISSION

Encouraging people, businesses 
and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their 
carbon footprint and making it 
easier, where we can, for those 
changes to happen

OuR STRATEGY

We will use our tools, levers and 
powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we 
focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; 
applying our values and seeking 
opportunities to deliver co-
benefits.

56

P
age 51



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 The Way We 

Live

2 The Way We

Travel

3 The Way We

Work

4 The Way We

Make Energy

5 The Way We

Look After Our 
Environment

6 The Way We

Manage Waste

7 The Way We Can 

Help Change  
to Occur

Actions
Support new buildings 
to be energy efficient 
and minimise 
emissions

Reduce emissions from 
Council vehicles

Reduce emissions from 
Council buildings 

Look at generating 
green energy for 
Council buildings

Increase tree cover 
and improve nature

Reduce carbon 
emissions from our 
waste and recycling 
service

Consider Climate 
Change in all Council 
decisions and policies

Tackle fuel poverty 
and reduce emissions 
from homes

Support sustainable 
travel and 
development

Switch to green energy Promote the use of 
renewable energy

Protect and extend 
the existing green 
infrastructure

Encourage recycling 
and the green 
initiatives

Provide Councillors 
and staff members 
with appropriate skills 
and training

Support the increased 
use of EV vehicles

Buy low carbon 
products and services

Reduce the risk from 
flooding

Support community 
initiatives designed to 
reduce, recycle and 
repurpose waste

Promote climate 
change projects

Encourage people 
to make journeys by 
walking or cycling

Support the green 
economy

Work in partnership 
with our communities, 
including the most 
vulnerable

Encourage community 
climate change and 
nature projects

Support the 
development of a 
circular economy

Work with Parish 
Councils

Help businesses to get 
advice and support

Involve and engage 
our communities 
and create a more 
inclusive society

Encourage Council 
staf to adopt energy 
saving/low carbon

Lobby for change

55

P
age 52



cONTENTS

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 57

CLIMATE CHANGE – OUR STRATEGY ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 53

Our Challenge ......................................................51

Our Response ......................................................44

Our Approach .......................................................41

Our Values .............................................................36

Our To Do List .......................................................34

THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OUR PLAN ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 33

1 The Way We Live ..............................................33

2 The Way We Travel ..........................................29

3 The Way We Work ............................................26

4 The Way We Make Energy ........................... 23

5 The Way We Look After Our  
Environment ..........................................................21

6 The Way We Manage Waste ........................18

7 The Way We Can Help Change  
to Occur ..................................................................15

KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY) ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 11

WHAT CAN I DO? ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 3

64% Moorlands
people
think it’s
important
to tackle
climate
change

54

P
age 53



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY
Climate change is the greatest threat to our 
future existence. It is a global problem that 
requires global solutions. We know that we 
cannot solve the problem on our own, but 
we can take a lead role in our district and 
use our powers and influence to support 
wider local action to reduce emissions and 
prepare for a changing climate.

The District Council declared a climate 
emergency on 10th July 2019 following 
unanimous, cross-party backing, and 
committed to: 

‘Start working with partners, across the district and region, towards making 
the Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030; taking into account 
emissions from both production and consumption’.

The declaration recognises that we need 
to work together, in partnership, to respond 
to the challenge of the climate change 
emergency.

It will require the Council to change the 
historic ways of heating and powering our 
buildings and vehicles, and the goods and 
services that we procure, when providing 
essential services for our communities. 

We will need to adopt zero and low carbon 
alternatives and put climate change at the 
centre of our decision making. 

In July 2021, the Council took the important 
step of approving its first Climate Change 
plan to set out how it intends to reduce 
emissions generated by the Council’s 
activities.

53

P
age 54



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

But reducing the Council’s emissions is 
only a small part of the solution. We need 
to come together as district, so that all our 
residents, community groups and businesses 
are working together to respond to the 
emergency. 

“It comes down, I think, to us 
each taking responsibility for the 
personal choices in our everyday 
lives. That’s all any of us can be 
expected to do. And it is those 
everyday choices that add up”

Dr Jon Copley, University of Southampton

This plan sets out the role that the District 
Council can play in encouraging this 
collective action, from ensuring that local 
plans support sustainable development, 
to working in partnership with other 
organisations, to promoting good ideas 
and supporting our local community to get 
involved.

The plan sets out the first steps of the 
journey. We will update it over time to take 
advantage of new ideas and opportunities, 
and to respond to any new legislation 
and guidance, funding opportunities or 
challenges. It’s the first steps of a long 
journey but we believe that we can get there 
if we work together.

• We recognise the global climate 
emergency.

• We are committed to keeping global 
heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of the 
Paris Agreement.

• We are committed to putting inclusive 
climate action at the centre of our 
decision-making to create thriving and 
equitable communities for everyone.

• We pledge to reach Net Zero by 2030 in 
line with global efforts to limit warming to 
1.5°Celsius.

• We invite our partners – political, business 
and community leaders; statutory 
organisations; trade unions; civic society 
and community members – to join us in 
recognising the global climate emergency 
and help us deliver on science-based 
action to overcome it.

• We invite everyone within Staffordshire 
Moorlands to act today and implement at 
least one measure to reduce their carbon 
footprint.

52

P
age 55



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR cHALLENGE

GLOBAL RISKS 

In 2020, the World Economic Forum (WEF) identified the top 5 global risks 
based on their likelihood of happening. All of the top 5 were environmental: 
extreme weather, climate action failure, natural disasters, biodiversity loss, 
and human-made environmental disasters. No environmental risk made the 
top 5 prior to 2011.

Three of the WEF’s top five global risks based on the impact that they would 
have were also environmental (climate action failure, biodiversity loss and 
extreme weather). The societal impact of water crises also featured in the 
top 5, alongside the risks associated with weapons of mass destruction.

The Global Risks Report 2020, World Economic Forum

Greenhouse gases – or GHGs - are 
released during many of the activities that 
we do day-to-day, such as driving petrol 
cars or heating homes. It is also released 
– or emitted - by industry. We call these 
‘emissions’. Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the most 

common GHG that is created by human 
activity– mainly through the burning of fossil 
fuels such as coal and gas. CO2 tends to 
remain in the atmosphere for hundreds of 
years.

The amount of Greenhouse gases from 
human activity have increased sharply 
since the industrial revolution especially in 
recent decades. This tips the ‘carbon cycle’ 
(where natural emissions of CO2 equal those 
removed) out of balance and increases the 
amount in the atmosphere.

GHGs trap heat in the atmosphere. The 
amount of CO2 in the atmosphere is now 
at its highest in several million years, and 
research shows that the heat trapped by this 
and other GHGs is increasing the average 
global temperature. This is called global 
warming..

51

P
age 56



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

“Global warming of 1.5°C and 2°C 
will be exceeded during the 21st 
century unless deep reductions in 
carbon dioxide (CO2) and other 
greenhouse gas emissions occur 
in the coming decades” 

Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science 
Basis, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC). 

Climate change is the changes in global 
weather patterns that are driven by global 
warming. The risks from climate change 
include:

• Extreme weather events.

• Environmental and economic damage.

• Further sea level rise as major ice sheets 
melt.

• Risks to health and wellbeing from 
poor equality, exposure to extreme 
temperatures, etc.

• Severe impacts on the world’s poorest 
and most vulnerable populations.

• Disruption and irreversible loss of natural 
habitats and resources.

A GLOBAL PROBLEM –  
LOcAL IMPAcTS

• Extreme weather events increase the risk 
of flooding and damage to the transport 
network. For example, the River Churnet 
burst its banks in several areas in 2019 
leading to flooding of an industrial 
estate, golf course and other areas and 
suspension of services by Churnet Valley 
Railway. Surface water also blocked 
several major roads throughout the 
district.

• Increasing temperatures and severe 
weather events induced by climate 
change will directly and indirectly result 
in habitat alterations and increase the 
vulnerability of animal and plant species. 
Sphagnum moss is especially susceptible 
to environmental changes and faces 

extinction in the event of severe climatic 
changes. By 2080, climate change may 
result in the loss of moorland birds, such 
as merlin and golden plover, from the 
Dark Peak.

• Drier conditions may result in rivers and 
streams becoming increasingly seasonal 
and at risk of drying up, with the risk 
of losing ponds altogether, especially 
dew ponds. The danger of wildfires 
also increases as peat soils dry out and 
woodlands suffer from summer drought. 
In the summer of 2018, major fires broke 
out in the Thorncliffe and Roaches area of 
the district. Residents were evacuated and 
it estimated that the Roaches fire released 
over 11,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
(CO2), equivalent to running 1,426 homes 
for one year.

50

P
age 57



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

IMPAcTS OF cLIMATE cHANGE

FOOD SHORTAGES HUMAN IMPACTS IMPACT ON NATURE

Ocean acidification

Sea level rise

Reduced 
fishery and 
aquaculture 
productivity

Crop failure 
and 

farmland 
loss

Flooding of 
towns and 
farmland

Coastal 
submersion

Displacement 
of people

Social and 
economic 

costs

Risks to 
human 

health and 
wellbeing

Disease Ecosystem 
collapse

Biodiversity 
loss

Altered rain patterns Extreme weather Flood Heatwave Drought Fire

Global Warming and Climate Change Other Air Pollutants e.g particulates

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

49

P
age 58



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GLOBAL

Each of the last four decades has been 
successively warmer than any decade 
that preceded it since 1850. Global surface 
temperature was 1.09°C higher in 2011–2020 
than 1850–1900. Models predict that Earth 
will warm between 2 and 6°C in the next 
century.

The levels of emissions have increased 
dramatically since the end of World War 
II. The fastest rate of increase in the 20th 
century was in the 25 years leading up to 
1970, with an annual average rate of more 
than 5%. Since 1970 it has been around 2%.

uNITEd KINGdOM (uK): 

In 2018, UK emissions were estimated to 
be 451.5 million tonnes carbon dioxide 
equivalent (MtCO2e).

The UK’s ten warmest years on record have 
occurred since 2002 and seven of the ten 
wettest years on record have happened 
since 1998. 

Heatwaves are now 30 times more likely 
to happen in the UK due to climate change 
and the Met Office predict that, at current 
rates, heatwaves in the UK can be expected 
to happen every other year by 2050. Winter 
storms are at least 40% more likely because 
of climate change.

Title: Earth Warming Stripes 
1884-2020, Ed Hawkins, 

University of Reading

48

P
age 59



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT THE uK THINKS ABOuT cLIMATE cHANGE

Eight in ten people (80%) in March 2021 
were either very concerned (33%) or fairly 
concerned (47%) about climate change.1

Among all people apart from the 1% who did 
not believe in climate change1:

• Over six in ten (63%) thought that climate 
change is already having an effect in the 
UK.

• Half (49%) thought that climate change 
is currently affecting people in their local 
area, 70% thought it was affecting people 
in the UK and 83% thought it was affecting 
people in other countries.

• The impacts people most expected to 
occur over the next 15 to 20 years are 
rising sea levels or more flooding (63%), 
rising temperatures or hotter summers 
(60%) and more extreme events such as 
storms (60%).

Almost half (46%) of UK citizens consider 
climate change to be an urgent priority that 
requires action immediately, with a further 
28% considering it a pressing issue that 
needs addressing in the next 5-10 years2.

53% of people believe that individuals can 
have a big or fairly big impact on climate 
change, 41% believed that they could have 
not much or no impact at all, and 6% didn’t 
know3.

Climate change is a topic of high concern to 
rural citizens (87%). 60% of rural citizens think 
that we are already feeling the effects of 
climate change (56% urban).4 

1 BEIS Public Attitudes Tracker (March 2021, Wave 37, 
UK); 2 ICARO Attitudes to climate change in the UK 
Key findings, September 2020; 3 YouGov, August 2021; 
4 Britain Talks Climate, 2020

UK greenhouse gas emissions are estimated 
to have fallen by 49% between 1990 and 
2020 (but this does not include emissions 
linked to the production of goods that 
are consumed in the UK but produced 
abroad or the UK’s ‘share’ of emissions from 
international aviation and shipping). Half 
of the total cut in emissions since 1990 were 
from the energy supply sector (mainly power 
generation). Gas replaced coal for electricity 
generation during the 1990s, renewables 
(especially wind) grew in the 2010s and coal 
use has fallen further in recent years to just 
2% of generation. Energy supply emissions 
are now below those from transport which 
have not changed very much since 1990.

47

P
age 60



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

STAFFORdSHIRE MOORLANdS

In 2018, Emissions from Staffordshire 
Moorlands totalled 905 ktCO2e. The majority 
resulted from buildings (61%), on-road 
transport (19%) and livestock (22%).

Sub Sector Direct, ktCO2e
Indirect, 
ktCO2e

Residential buildings 123.20 46.17
Commercial buildings & facilities 22.71 38.08
Institutional buildings & facilities 18.28 8.27

Industrial buildings & facilities 235.13 46.48
Agricultural fuels - -
Fugitive emissions 13.91 -

On-road 147.06 IE   
Rail 0.00 IE   

Waterborne navigation 1.38 IE   
Aviation 0.00 IE   
Off-road 1.47 IE   

Solid waste disposal 6.04 -
Biological treatment NO   -

Incineration and open burning NO   -
Wastewater 5.79 -

Industrial process 40.00 -
Product use 0.00 -
Livestock 169.50 -
Land use -18.72 -

Other AFOLU NE   -
Electricity-only generation NO   -

CHP generation NO   -
Heat/cold generation NO   -

Local renewable generation 0.40 NO   
Sub-total 766.14 139.00

Grand total 905.14

IE = Included Elsewhere

NE = Not Estimated

NO = Not Occurring

Included under BASIC framework
Included under BASIC+ framework

Key statistics at a glance - 
Staffordshire Moorlands

An annual reduction rate of 
12.4% is recommended to 
keep Sta�ordshire 
Moorlands aligned with Paris 
Agreement targets

According to BEIS statistics, 
between 2005 and 2019 the 
average annual emissions 
reduction rate in 
Sta�ordshire Moorlands 
figure was just over 2%

If Sta�ordshire Moorlands 
continue along a 
business-as-usual scenario, 
the carbon budget (2020 - 
2100) will be exceeded by 
2027

46

P
age 61



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT THE MOORLANdS THINKS ABOuT cLIMATE cHANGE

Over eight out of ten people (86%) said that 
they were very concerned (45%) or a little 
concerned (41%) about climate change. 

Six out of ten (64%) thought that it was 
extremely important (26%) or very important 
(38%) to tackle climate change.

People were most concerned about climate 
change leading to the loss of animals, 
plants, habitats and biodiversity in the 
District (63% were very concerned), extreme 
weather (63%); and environment destruction 
(52%).

Respondents said that more information 
(45%) and advice (45%) would help them to 
tackle climate change.

The actions that people thought would be 
important for tackling climate change were 
minimising single use plastic (89% said 
this was very important); encouraging the 
reuse, repurposing and recycling of waste 
materials (84%); and making sure that new 
houses are energy efficient (81%).

Future Focus Research surveyed 500 people, 
selected randomly from across the district, 
in September 2021 on behalf of Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council.

86% people
concerned
about
climate
change

45

P
age 62



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR RESPONSE

KYOTO

11 dEcEMBER 1997: 

Developed nations pledged in the Kyoto 
Protocol to reduce emissions by an average 
of 5% by the period 2008-12.

PARIS 

12 dEcEMBER 2015: 

The Paris Agreement - a legally binding 
international treaty on climate change- was 
adopted. Its goal is to limit global warming 
to well below 2, preferably to 1.5 degrees 
Celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels.

Why 1.5?

Climate Change and Biodiversity: 

Limiting global warming to 
1.5°C above pre-industrial levels 
avoids half the risks associated 
with warming of 2°C for plants, 
animals, and insects in terms of 
climate change induced range 
loss.

Climate Change and Human 
Health: 

With 1.5°C of future global 
warming, many tropical and sub-
tropical regions will face extreme 
risks to population health from 
heat stress. These risks become 
widespread in these regions with 
temperature increases of 2.5°C to 
3°C.

Climate Change and Sea Level 
Rise: 

Global sea level rises are 
predicted to rise by up to 52cm by 
2100 with a temperature rise of 
1.5°C and up to 63cm for a 2.0°C 
rise. The additional 11 cm of sea 
level rise is projected to result in 
additional global annual flood 
costs of US$ 1.5 trillion per year 
(0.25% of global GDP) without 
adaptation. Flood cost for UK is 
projected to increase from 2.5% of 
GDP (1.5°C) to 4% GDP(2°C).

Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research 
2018, The implications of global warming of 
1.5°C and 2°C

44

P
age 63



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

uK

26TH NOVEMBER 2008: 

The Climate Change Act 2008 was 
introduced to ensure that the net UK carbon 
account for all six Kyoto greenhouse gases 
for the year 2050 is at least 80% lower than 
the 1990 baseline. 

27TH JuNE 2019: 

The UK government amended the Climate 
Change Act and set a legally binding 
target to achieve net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions from across the UK economy by 
2050 with five yearly carbon budgets to set 
actions and review progress.

STAFFORdSHIRE MOORLANdS

19 JuNE 2018

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
approved the adoption of a Staffordshire 
Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy to 
support the Local Plan.

10TH JuLY 2019: 

The Council declared a climate emergency 
and agreed to work with partners across the 
district and beyond to make Staffordshire 
Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030. 

This means that by 2030 any greenhouse 
gas emissions from the district must be 
balanced with an equivalent amount of 
emissions that are collected and stored in a 
way that keeps them safe (sequestered) or 
offset. If we do this, we become a carbon 
neutral district with a net zero carbon 
footprint.

8 OcTOBER 2019: 

The Council approved a new corporate plan 
(2019-23) that included “Protect and improve 
the environment and respond to the climate 
emergency” as one of the four aims of the 
Council. The Council’s corporate plan has 
previously included aims around improving 
the environment, but this is the first time that 
climate change has been specifically named 
a key aim. This demonstrates the Council’s 
commitment to putting climate change at 
the heart of its activities.

27 JANuARY 2021

Working with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust, the 
Council published the results of the mapping 
of opportunities for enhancing habitats and 
their connectivity, and a first draft schedule 
of green infrastructure delivery projects.

43

P
age 64



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

29 JuNE 2021: 

The District Council approved its 2021/22 
Climate Change Plan (Part 1), which 
focussed on reducing the Council’s own 
emissions.

Following the declaration of a climate 
emergency, the Council introduced a 
Climate Change Sub Committee to help 
develop its plans. Working groups met to 
look at district greenhouse gas emissions 
from Council activity, housing, industry, 
agriculture, land use and biodiversity, waste, 
and energy production. These working 
groups gathered evidence from many 
outside agencies and experts to identify 
actions that could reduce emissions.

A group of Council Officers also met to 
develop ideas and create the plan.

We also considered information from the 
following sources when creating our plan:

• Research conducted on our behalf by 
Anthesis

• The results of a Climate Change Attitude 
carried out in September 2021. 

• Consultation with DEFRA, UK100, APSE, 
businesses, Keele University and other 
stakeholders, and other meetings 
conducted by the Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change and Biodiversity.

• A review of national and international 
guidance, and local authority plans from 
across the country.

The Council has reviewed its structures and 
the skills and capacity of the workforce that 
are needed to deliver its plans. It will also 
build the cost of delivering the Council’s 
actions within the plan into the Council’s 
annual budget and Medium-Term Financial 
Plan.

The Council carries an earmarked reserve 
set aside for initiatives responding to the 
Climate Emergency. This reserve is available 
to provide the funding for unbudgeted in-
year spend developing projects designed 
to further the Council’s ambitions around 
climate change. Once specific projects 
have been developed (and their business 
case signed off); the necessary budget 
requirements can be incorporated into the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

42

P
age 65



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR APPROAcH

Our Vision:  
Staffordshire Moorlands will 
become carbon neutral by 2030, 
taking into account emissions 
from both production and 
consumption

Local authorities have powers or influence 
over roughly a third of emissions in their 
local areas and UK100 estimate that local 
authorities are responsible for around 6% of 
emissions. For Staffordshire Moorlands, the 
local authorities are Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council, Staffordshire County Council, 
and the Peak District National Park Authority.

“More than half of the emissions 
cuts needed rely on people and 
businesses taking up low-carbon 
solutions – decisions that are 
made at a local and individual 
level. Many of these decisions 
depend on having supporting 
infrastructure and systems in 
place. Local authorities have 
powers or influence over roughly 
a third of emissions in their local 
areas”

Climate Change Committee, Local 
Authorities and the Sixth Carbon Budget, 
December 2020 

This means that we all have a part to play 
in tackling climate change. We see our role 
as a district council to be to encourage 
people, businesses and other organisations 
to do what they can to reduce their carbon 
footprint and make it easier, where we can, 
for those changes to happen.

41

P
age 66



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Our Mission:  
Encouraging people, businesses 
and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their 
carbon footprint and making it 
easier, where we can, for those 
changes to happen.

The national Climate Change Committee 
is an independent, statutory body that has 
set out the different methods that local 
authorities can use to control and influence 
emissions and tackle climate change.

• Direct Control: the Council’s own 
buildings, operations, travel

• Procurement and commissioning & 
commercialisation

• Place shaping: using powers to control 
development and transport (transport is a 
County Council function along with things 
like highways and education)

• Showcasing: innovating, piloting, 
demonstrating and sharing good 
practice, scaling and replicating

• Partnerships: leading, bringing people 
and organisations together, co-ordinating 
and supporting others, joining others’ 
partnerships

• Involving, Engaging and Communicating: 
translating global & national climate 
change targets for local relevance; with 
stakeholders to raise awareness, involving 
people ad ideas for local solutions

40

P
age 67



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

We have used this list as a framework for 
creating our plans to achieve net zero in 
Staffordshire Moorlands by 2030.  

“As much as 62% of the future 
reduction in emissions will rely on 
individual choices and behaviours, 
from day to day lifestyle choices 
to one off purchases such as 
replacing boilers that use fossil 
fuels or buying an electric vehicle”.

House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 2021, Achieving Net Zero

“The public need to be involved – 
over half the emissions reductions 
we identified to reach Net Zero 
actively involve people, whether 
by choosing to purchase low-
carbon technologies like electric 
cars, or by making different 
choices, for example on their 
travel and diets.”

Climate Change Committee 2020, The Sixth 
Carbon Budget: The UK’s path to Net Zero

39

P
age 68



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

We believe that we can meet our aim of 
becoming a carbon neutral Council – sitting 
within a carbon neutral district – by 2030 if 
we focus our actions on 7 Ways to Net Zero.

• The Way We Live

• The Way We Travel

• The Way We Work

• The Way We Make Energy

• The Way We Look After Our Environment

• The Way We Manage Waste, and

• The Way We Can Change to Occur.

The way we 
Live

The way we 
Travel

The way we
Work

The way we

Manage
Waste

The way we help

Change
to occur

The way we 
Make

Energy

The way we
look after our

Environment

NET

38

P
age 69



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Some actions that we can take are better 
than others at producing more lasting 
reductions in emissions. We call this the 
Carbon Management Hierarchy. In our plan, 
we will look at ways of avoiding emissions 
before we think about ways of removing or 
offsetting.

THE cARBON MANAGEMENT 
HIERARcHY

We acknowledge that climate change is 
a ‘grand challenge’ but it also presents 
opportunities. This includes improving 
people’s health and wellbeing through 
active travel and cleaner air, using nature-
based solutions to improve people’s quality 
of life, tackling deprivation by addressing 
food and fuel poverty, improving our natural 
environment through the protection and 
expansion of green spaces; and delivering 
economic growth and creating jobs. These 
are often referred to as the co-benefits of 
tackling climate change. We will look for 
opportunities to deliver co-benefits wherever 
possible.

Clean growth is one of the four Grand 
Challenges set out in the UK’s Industrial 
Strategy.

“We will maximise the advantages 
for UK industry from the global 
shift to clean growth – through 
leading the world in the 
development, manufacture and 
use of low carbon technologies, 
systems and services that cost less 
than high carbon alternatives.”

HM Government, Industrial Strategy, 
Building a Britain fit for the future

Avoid
Avoid activities that cause emissions

Most favoured option

Least favoured option

Reduce
Change activities to reduce emissions

Replace
Change sources to reduce emissions

Remove
Undertake activities to 

store emissions
O�set

O�set residual
emissions

Actions at the top produce more lasting reductions in emissions

37

P
age 70



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR VALuES
We will:

• Put climate change at the heart of our 
decision making.

• Base our decision-making on science and 
best practice wherever possible.

• Promote awareness of climate change 
and the best practices for responding to it.

• Create a framework to enable people 
and organisations to take action to 
address climate change.

• Focus our actions on those areas under 
our control and where we can have 
the greatest impact, whilst seeking to 
influence the behaviour of actions of 
others.

• Focus our efforts on delivering the actions 
within our action plan whilst also taking 
of advantage of any opportunities to 
apply for funding to support local action 
to respond to the Climate and Nature 
emergency. 

• Identify and take advantages of the co-
benefits of addressing the Climate and 
Nature emergency, such as improving 
physical health and mental wellbeing, 
achieving economic growth and 
alleviating poverty.

• Support the voluntary and community 
sector to deliver community-led projects 
and activity.

• Give priority in responding to climate 
change to the needs of vulnerable groups 
who are most at risk to the adverse effects 
of climate change, including food and 
fuel poverty, and lack of access to green 
space.

• Put inclusive climate action at the centre 
of our decision-making to create thriving 
and equitable communities for everyone.

• Embed fairness as a core principle and 
seek to ensure that the benefits of acting 
on climate change are shared widely, and 
that the costs do not burden those who 

are least able to pay, or whose livelihoods 
are most at risk as the economy changes.

• We invite our partners – political, business 
and community leaders; statutory 
organisations; trade unions; civic society 
and community members – to join us in 
recognising the global climate emergency 
and help us deliver on science-based 
action to overcome it.

36

P
age 71



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Our Strategy:  
We will use our tools, levers and 
powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we 
focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; 
applying our values and seeking 
opportunities to deliver co-
benefits.

OuR FEEdBAcK

We will provide regular updates on what we 
have achieved throughout the year and a 
final update once each year has ended.

This will include an annual report to the 
Council’s Communities Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee on the progress that has 
been made towards delivering the plan. 
This Committee, which is made up from 
Councillors from all local political parties, 
has the power under the Local Government 
Act 2000 to review and scrutinise the actions 
and decisions of the Council. 

We will also present reports to the 
Committee on specific actions within our 
plan, such as the introduction of new policies 
or strategies, and the delivery of projects. 
Information about the delivery of the plan 
will also be included within the Council’s 
quarterly performance reports.

The Council’s reports are available on the 
Council’s website and members of the public 
can watch the committees either in person 
or on-line.

We will also seek ways of talking directly with 
our communities throughout the year.

35

P
age 72



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR TO dO LIST
We know that our plans will need to change 
as the climate emergency landscape 
inevitably shifts over time. With that in mind, 
we will make sure that we review our plans 
regularly so that they remain fit-for-purpose. 
We will update our website whenever we 
make changes to our plan.

In the next 12-months we will also:

• Further develop our approach to target 
setting including milestones for action. 
The release of the Census 2021 data will 
help us to establish baselines.

• Enhance our monitoring procedures to 
make sure that the actions that we are 
taking are having an impact

• Embed Climate Change activity within the 
Council’s annual budget and Medium-
Term Financial Plan.

• Deliver the actions under Aim 4 of our 
corporate plan (Aim 4: To protect and 
improve the environment and respond to 
the climate emergency)

• Include mandatory Carbon Literacy/
Awareness training for all new Council 
employees

• Analyse the Council’s procurement 
emissions1

• Conduct a district-wide pathway analysis1

• Hold a series of workshops to further 
develop a picture of ‘how’ various 
measures are implemented across the 
district and the Council’s role in these1.

1 Anthesis – who are the leading 
sustainability experts globally – have been 
commissioned to undertake this work on 
behalf of the Council.

34

P
age 73



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

1 THE WAY WE LIVE

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Emissions from residential buildings totalled 
169 ktCO2e within Staffordshire Moorlands 
in 2018. This figure estimates emissions 
arising from the consumption of energy 
in residential buildings of all types and 
tenures, including social housing, rented 
accommodation and privately-owned 
properties. 

The most significant source of emissions 
from households comes from the use of 
energy for heating and hot water. Most 
of this is achieved through natural gas 
consumption, with gas demand for heating 
making up 51% of residential building 
emissions. The second most significant 
source of emissions is the use of grid 
supplied electricity to the district for lighting, 
appliances and cooking, which makes up 

around 19% of residential emissions. The 
remainder is made up of small contributions 
from other fuel types.

In 2019, official figures show that 16.2% of 
households in Staffordshire Moorlands 
were living in fuel poverty (compared to an 
average of 13.8% for the whole of England). 

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

10% of households will be living in fuel 
poverty by 2025 and 0% by 2030.

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
residential buildings by 2030.

Proportion of properties with an EPC 
(target to be established).

Proportion of properties EPC with rating 
D to G (target to be established).

33

P
age 74



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Place shaping
1.1 We will make sure that 

new buildings and other 
development within the 
District have high levels 
of energy efficiency 
and minimise carbon 
emissions

Review the Local Plan to 
further increase the focus 
on climate change

Review policies by 
September 2025 

Revised Local Plan 
approved with increased 
focus on climate change

Clarity needed from 
Government regarding 
their reforms of the 
planning system which 
will determine the scope 
and role of Local Plans in 
tackling climate change. 

Head of 
Development 
Services

Produce a Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary Planning 
Document to consider 
scope for guidance on 
S106 agreements that 
can negotiated under 
the current Local Plan. 
This work will consider 
the scope for climate 
change measures that 
can secured in the short/
medium term under 
current policy

2022 Increased funding 
secured to support 
climate change 
adaptation and mitigation 
measures. 

Scope for developer 
contributions is limited 
by the viability of 
development. 

Head of 
Development 
Services

We will introduce a locally 
focussed Climate Change 
and Sustainable Design 
Supplementary Planning 
Document or other 
appropriate planning 
guidance to shape all 
future developments and 
ensure that they support 
us to meet our climate 
objectives

March 2023 Supplementary Planning 
Document or Guidance 
introduced

Increased awareness of 
opportunities to address 
climate change through 
developments

Head of 
Development 
Services

32

P
age 75



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.2 We will support action 
including retrofitting 
to reduce fuel poverty, 
prevent health hazards 
relating to damp and 
excess cold. and reduce 
emissions from homes

We will update the 
Council’s private sector 
housing policy to include 
a greater emphasis 
on improving energy 
efficiency in privately 
rented housing.

December 2022 Revised Private Sector 
Housing Policy approved 
with increased focus on 
sustainability

 Head of Regulatory 
Services

We will enforce Minimum 
Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) in the 
private rented sector

On-going Number of enforcement 
actions

Head of Regulatory 
Services

Examine opportunities 
for the Council to 
train assessors and 
coordinators in the PAS 
2035 standard

December 2022 Policy produced Head of Assets

Partnerships

1.3 We will work in 
partnership to combat 
fuel poverty, help 
residents to heat their 
home and address 
the public health 
consequences of climate 
change.

We will support the 
Staffordshire Warmer 
Homes Scheme

On-going Number of properties 
supported

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

31

P
age 76



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.4 We will support action to 
reduce school-related 
carbon emissions

We will encourage the 
County Council to support 
schools to cut carbon, 
such as by participating in 
the LESS CO2 programme 
and accessing Salix 
finance, and to ensure 
that school meals are 
delivered in accordance 
with the official Eatwell 
Guide 

On-going Reduced emissions from 
schools

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

1.5 Supporting the 
development of zero 
carbon buildings

We will develop a 
roadmap to achieve 
net zero carbon new 
buildings from 2030

2022 Head of 
Development 
Services

Involving, Engaging and Communicating

1.6 Encourage the insulation 
of existing homes across 
the District as well as the 
installation of other green 
energy solutions

We will use our influence 
to strongly promote any 
successor schemes to the 
Green Homes Grant

On-going This depends upon the 
introduction of successor 
schemes

Head of 
Development 
Services

30

P
age 77



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 THE WAY WE TRAVEL

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Transport is the largest emitting sector of 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, producing 
27% of the UK’s total emissions in 2019. Of 
this, the majority (91%) came from road 
transport vehicles. The biggest contributors 
to this were cars and taxis, which made up 
61% of the emissions from road transport, 
followed by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) 
(18%) and vans (17%).

International aviation emissions (which are 
not counted towards the UK’s total domestic 
emissions) have more than doubled in the 
period 1990- 2019 (a 138% increase).

Emissions from transport totalled 150 ktCO2e 
in 2018. On-road transport dominates the 
emissions in this sector; Department for 
Transport data indicate that over 4.7 billion 
vehicle miles were driven across the district’s 
roads in 2018. The proportion of electric 
vehicles in the district has grown significantly 

in recent years, but still constitutes less 
than 1% of the overall number of registered 
vehicles.

Approximately 79% of people aged 16-74 
in the Staffordshire Moorlands to work by 
driving a car or van.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

37.5% of commuter journeys will be 
made by public transport, cycling and 
walking by 2025 and 40% by 2030.

There will be Net Zero vehicle-related 
emissions by 2030

29

P
age 78



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
2.1 We will reduce 

emissions from Council 
vehicles and Council-
related activity

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan

The District Council has also signed up the Cycle to Work Scheme

Head of 
Commissioned 
Service

Head of 
Transformation

Place shaping
2.2 We will reduce 

transport-related 
emissions by 
encouraging 
sustainable 
development

As part of the next review of 
the Local Plan, consider further 
opportunities for supporting electric 
vehicles as well as ensuring that 
future developments are well[1]
connected to bus routes and 
walking and cycling networks

Policies reviewed 
to see if updates 
are required by 
September 2025

Revised Local Plan 
approved with 
increased focus on 
reducing travel and 
transport related 
emissions

Head of 
Development 
Services

We will consider the promotion of 
cycling and walking routes during 
the development of all Masterplans

On-going Number of Masterplans 
that mention active 
travel

Head of 
Regeneration

2.3 We will encourage and 
support the increased 
use of EV vehicles

We will support the development of 
a County EV charging point strategy 
and installation plan for the District

TBD Asset Management 
Strategy

Baseline data for other 
buildings to be assessed by 
December 2021.

Review of assets completed 
and plan developed by April 
2022

Head of Assets

28

P
age 79



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Partnerships
2.4 We will work in 

partnership to reduce 
travel and transport 
related emissions

We will support the County Council 
to deliver measures for tackling 
climate change within their District 
Integrated Transport Strategy 2018-
2031 for Staffordshire Moorlands.

We will encourage and support 
Staffordshire County Council to take 
action to encourage sustainable 
travel including,

- improving pedestrian and cycle 
routes across the district

-implementing SCC’s Air Aware 
Scheme, which aims to improve air 
quality and promote active travel

-Establishing a Business Travel 
Network (BTN) in Leek

Policies reviewed 
to see if updates 
are required by 
September 2025

Revised Local Plan 
approved with 
increased focus on 
reducing travel and 
transport related 
emissions

Head of 
Development 
Service

Head of Regulatory 
Services

27

P
age 80



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 THE WAY WE WORK

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

The most significant contributor to 
Staffordshire Moorlands’ emissions is the 
non-residential buildings sector, totalling 383 
ktCO2e across commercial, institutional and 
industrial buildings in 2018.

The most significant source of emissions 
from non-residential buildings is coal 
consumption in industrial buildings. 
Contributions from coal consumption make 
up approximately 35% of all non-residential 
buildings emissions. As with residential 
buildings, the next most significant 
contributions to these totals is natural gas 
consumption for heating and hot water 
(around 16%) and electricity for appliances, 
lighting and cooking (around 20%).

Industrial processes (emissions from all 
non-energy related processes in industrial 
facilities, such as manufacturing and 
production of chemicals, metals and 
minerals) accounted for 40 ktCO2e in 2018.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
non-residential buildings by 2030

26

P
age 81



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
3.1 We will reduce energy use 

and improve the energy 
efficiency of Council 
buildings including Leisure 
Centres 

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan Head of Assets

3.2 We will switch the 
Council’s energy supply to 
100% green energy

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan Head of Assets

Procurement and commissioning & commercialisation
3.3 We will reduce the 

number of products 
purchased by the Council, 
chose low carbon/carbon 
neutral products where 
possible, and seek to 
use contractors who are 
working towards carbon 
neutrality

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan Head of 
Commissioned 
Services

Partnerships
3.4 We will seek to influence 

local economic priorities 
and activities to drive 
growth of the green 
economy and creation of 
local, green jobs. This will 
include supporting our 
vulnerable communities 
and those who will be 
most harmed by climate 
change.

Work with the Local 
Enterprise Partnership, 
Chamber of Commerce,  
to ensure that their 
decisions are in line with 
the rapid growth of the 
green economy, climate 
reduction pathways and 
nature restoration plans.

Number of local, green 
jobs created

Head of 
Regeneration

25

P
age 82



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

3.5 We will support work 
aimed at promoting a 
circular economy

We will promote a circular 
economy though our 
annual procurement 
event and through our 
implementation of the 
Employment Charter

On-going Businesses engaged at 
events

Head of 
Regeneration

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
3.6 Provide advice and 

support to businesses
We will signpost people 
to appropriate sources 
of information via our 
website

March 2022 Information posted on 
Council website

Head of 
Regeneration

3.7 Encourage and enable 
energy saving/low carbon 
behaviour by all council 
staff

We will deliver campaigns 
aimed at reducing energy 
consumption and carbon 
emissions.

This will include delivering 
‘carbon literacy’ training 
to help staff members 
to identify opportunities 
for cutting carbon are 
maximised throughout 
council services.

On-going Number of campaigns 
delivered. % of carbon 
literate staff. Reduction in 
Council emissions.

Head of 
Transformation

24

P
age 83



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

4 THE WAY WE MAKE ENERGY

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from 
the power sector were 65 MtCO2 in 2018, 
which is 15% of the UK total. These emissions 
come from the burning of coal and gas 
for electricity, with a small proportion 
from oil and other small-scale embedded 
generation: Gas plants contribute to 70% of 
power emissions. They provide 40% of total 
electricity generation. Coal accounts for 
23% of emissions but only 5% of generation. 
The remaining 7% of emissions come from 
oil and a variety of other small generation 
sources (Climate Change Committee, The 
Sixth Carbon Budget: Electricity generation)

We will establish a baseline during 21/22.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

The amount of renewable energy 
available in the district will increase to 
100 MW by 2025 and 318 MW by 2030.

23

P
age 84



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

4 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
4.1 We will investigate 

options for generating 
green energy for Council 
buildings

We will Commission 
expert advice to review 
the Council’s estate and 
develop an action plan

April 2022 Options reported to 
Council after review 
completed

Head of Assets

Place shaping
4.2 We will promote the use of 

renewable energy
Review the Local Plan and 
consider measures such 
as:

Identifying areas suitable 
for renewable energy and 
produce guidance,

Investigate options for 
community and district 
heat networks.

Review policies by 
September 2025

Revised local plan 
approved outlining 
approach to renewable 
energy

Head of 
Development 
Services

22

P
age 85



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 THE WAY WE LOOK AFTER OuR ENVIRONMENT

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Climate change can have a devastating 
impact on our natural environment, but 
restoring and improving nature can help us 
to reduce emissions.

Well-functioning, fertile soils maintain our 
food and timber supply. They store carbon 
and support a diverse range of organisms 
that form part of the terrestrial food chain 
for wildlife

UK peatlands are one of the most important 
terrestrial natural stores for carbon. They 
are estimated to store over 25 times the UK’s 
total current annual emissions and store an 
order of magnitude higher than the carbon 
stored in trees. However, the area of land 
suitable for peat forming vegetation in the 
uplands could decline by between 50% and 
65% by the 2050s

The abundance and distribution of UK 
terrestrial and freshwater species has 
declined by 13% since 1970. Upland areas 
face particularly acute risks, with 75% of 
present-day upland species potentially 
facing a decline in climate suitability by the 
end of the century under a medium level of 
warming

Particulate matter with an aerodynamic 
diameter of 2.5µm or less (PM2.5) has 
a significant impact on human health, 
including premature mortality, allergic 
reactions, and cardiovascular diseases. The 
2019 fraction of mortality attributable to 
PM2.5 pollution in Staffordshire Moorlands is 
4.8%, which is below the national average of 
5.1%. There are two areas within Staffordshire 
Moorlands where air pollution exceeds that 
target values for the protection of human 
health. These are known as Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMA) and the two 
areas are Leek town centre and Cellarhead 
crossroads.

The major contributors to NO2 (Nitrogen 
Dioxide) in both AQMAs are Cars, Light Duty 
Vehicles and Heavy Duty Vehicles.

The percentage tree cover for the district is 
14.35 with urban tree cover in Staffordshire 
Moorlands is estimated to be around 17-19%

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

Mortality attributable to PM2.5 pollution 
across the District will remain below the 
national average.

Annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) will 
be reduced by 25.5 µg/m3 In Leek and 
by 34.6 µg/m3 in Cellarhead by 2030

There will be 20% urban canopy cover 
by 2025 and 24% by 2030.

We will develop further targets when we 
prepare our biodiversity strategy.

21

P
age 86



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
5.1 We will increase tree 

cover, and improve 
wildlife habitats and 
biodiversity

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan Head of 
Commissioned 
Services

Place shaping
5.2 We will protect and 

enhance the existing 
green infrastructure 
resource within the 
district’s towns and 
villages

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

5.3 We will encourage action 
to conserve and improve 
biodiversity in the district

We will develop a 
Biodiversity Strategy that 
supports the Local Plan

March 2022 Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

5.4 We will encourage tree 
planting and create 
a framework for the 
planting of new trees

We will develop a Tree 
Strategy that supports the 
Local Plan

March 2022 Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

5.5 We will work in 
partnership to deliver our 
Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP)

Details are set out in our 
AQAP

On-going Annual mean nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2) will be 
reduced by 25.5 µg/m3 in 
Leek and by 34.6 µg/m3 in 
Cellarhead by 2030

Flood risk reduced

Head of Regulatory 
Services

Partnerships
5.6 We will work with the 

County Council and 
others to reduce the risk of 
flooding in the district

We will support delivery 
of the Staffordshire Local 
Flood Risk Management 
Strategy

On-going Head of 
Development 
Control

20

P
age 87



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
5.7 We will deliver the 

tree planting schemes 
including the Community 
Orchards scheme

We will roll out the 
Community Orchard 
Scheme across the district

On-going Number of orchards 
planted

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

5.8 Work in partnership 
with our communities, 
including the most 
vulnerable to protect and 
improve the environment

We will work with Support 
Staffordshire and others 
to develop our approach

March 2022 Approach agreed Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

19

P
age 88



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 THE WAY WE MANAGE WASTE

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Emissions from waste from the district 
totalled 12 ktCO2e in 2018. This includes Solid 
waste disposal emissions and wastewater 
emissions. According to DEFRA statistics 
for 2018/19, Staffordshire Moorlands saw 
a recycling rate of 56%, with an average of 
396kg of collected waste per resident.

56% of household waste is reused, recycled, 
or composted in the district. The target for 
residual waste per household was 475kg in 
2021/22.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

58% of waste will be reused, recycled or 
composted by 2025.

There will be 465 kg or less residual 
waste per household in 2021/22

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
waste by 2030.

18

P
age 89



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
6.1 We will implement 

measures to reduce 
carbon emissions from 
the Council’s waste and 
recycling service

We will continue to review 
the efficiency of existing 
waste collection rounds 
and make appropriate 
changes 

On-going Reduced mileage and 
therefore reduced 
emissions

The Government could 
require the Council to 
collect waste streams 
different which could 
increase the number 
of vehicles required to 
deliver these services. This 
could have a negative 
impact on mileage and 
increase emissions if we 
still use diesel vehicles.

Head of 
Commissioned 
Services

We will encourage our 
community to recycle 
waste

On-going Increased rate of 
recycling, reduction of 
residual waste collected 
per household

New direction by 
Government could lead to 
changes to services which 
frustrate residents but 
hopefully would lead to 
increased performance

Head of 
Commissioned 
Services

Partnerships
6.2 We will work with 

Staffordshire County 
Council and other 
Staffordshire Councils 
to encourage recycling 
and the broader greener 
agenda

We will work with the 
Staffordshire Waste 
Partnership to develop 
and implement a joint 
Waste Management 
Strategy

On-going Strategy developed and 
implemented

All local authorities 
are awaiting new 
Government direction 
on proposed changes to 
waste services as stated in 
the Resource and Waste 
Strategy (RAWS) 2018

Head of 
Commissioned 
Services

17

P
age 90



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
6.3 We will encourage and 

support community 
initiatives designed to 
reduce, recycle and 
repurpose waste

We will support 
community initiatives 
where we can

Number of initiatives Lack of community 
schemes either already in 
existence or a lack of new 
initatives

Head of 
Commissioned 
Services

16

P
age 91



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 THE WAY WE cAN HELP cHANGE TO OccuR

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

More than half of the emissions cuts needed 
rely on people and businesses taking up 
low-carbon solutions

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

The District Council will become a 
Carbon Literate Organisation by 2020

All Town and Parish Councils will be 
supported to take action to tackle 
climate change

15

P
age 92



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
7.1 We will ensure that 

climate change 
implications are 
considered in all Council 
decisions and key policies

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan

We will become a Carbon Literate Organisation by December 2022

Head of Democratic 
Services

7.2 We will ensure that our 
Councillors and Council 
staff have the training 
and skills required to 
contribute to the Council’s 
carbon zero target.

We have set out our approach in our SMDC Climate Change Plan

We will also work towards becoming a Carbon Literate Organisation by December 2022

Head of Democratic 
Services

Head of 
Transformation

7.3 We will create a more 
inclusive society

We will collect information 
on the needs of frontline 
communities with respect 
to climate planning and/
or implementation

December 2022 Needs analysis completed Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Showcasing
7.4 Encourage and support 

community-led delivery 
of sustainability and 
biodiversity initiatives. 
In particular, we will 
encourage and support 
activity involving the most 
vulnerable members of 
our communities and 
those who will be most 
harmed by climate 
change.

We will work with 
Staffordshire Connects to 
help develop and support 
local sustainability groups

On-going Number of community 
groups supported

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

We will support 
community projects, 
including through the 
Community Climate 
Change budget.

Budget available each 
financial year

Projects supported Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

14

P
age 93



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Partnerships
7.5 We will work with Parish 

Councils to enable them 
to take local action to 
address Climate Change, 
including developing their 
own climate action plans. 

We will provide support to 
Parish Councils through 
the Parish Assemblies

On-going Climate Change features 
on Parish Council 
agendas

Number of Parish action 
plans produced

Head of Democratic 
Services

Involving, Engaging & Communicating
7.6 We will use our influence 

to make changes to local, 
regional and national 
legislation, policies 
and guidance where 
appropriate

We will respond to 
consultations, engage in 
relevant partnerships, and 
lobby for change

On-going Number of consultations 
responded to

Executive Director 
(Place)

7.7 We will work in 
partnership with 
businesses and schools to 
improve air quality

Details are set out in our 
AQAP

On-going Number of events and 
activities

Head of Regulatory 
Services

7.8 We will help the 
community to keep up to 
date with the latest ideas, 
advice and information 
about climate change

We will make extra effort 
to reach groups such 
as vulnerable members 
of our community, 
high carbon emitting 
businesses, farmers and 
landowners.

We will produce a 
Communications & 
Engagement Strategy 
that includes a focus on 
climate education

We will deliver a 
communications 
campaign

December 2021

On-going

We will publish our 
strategy on our website

Number of campaigns 
delivered

Head of 
Transformation

13

P
age 94



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

7.9 We will provide our 
communities with 
opportunities to take part 
in shaping and delivering 
climate change activity. 

We will produce a 
Communications & 
Engagement Strategy

We will deliver a series of 
engagement events

December 2021

On-going

We will provide details 
of the results of our 
engagement activities

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

7.10 Provide advice and 
support to residents, 
businesses and others

We will signpost people 
to appropriate sources 
of information via our 
website

Website updated by 
December 2021

We will monitor the 
number of people that 
visit our website

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

7.11 Encourage utility 
companies to replace any 
trees that are removed to 
allow them to carry out 
maintenance work

The Council will ask utility 
companies to replace 
trees at their own cost

On-going Number of trees replaced Head of Assets

12

P
age 95



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AcTIVE TRAVEL

Walking, cycling, or using some other form 
of physical activity for all or part of a journey 
instead of using a car or other motorised 
transport.

You can find more information here 

www.activetravel.org.uk

AIR QuALITY MANAGEMENT 
AREAS (AQMAS)

An area where air pollutant concentrations 
exceed / are likely to exceed national air 
quality objectives. AQMAs are declared for 
specific pollutants and objective.

You can find more information about 
the AQMAS in Staffordshire Moorlands 
here: AQMAs Declared by Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council and general 
information about AQMAS here: DEFRA Air 
Quality Objectives

BIOdIVERSITY

The variety of animal and plant life in any 
environment.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Natural History Museum: What 
is biodiversity?. 

You may also be interested to watch David 
Attenborough’s - Extinction: The Facts

BLuE INFRASTRucTuRE

The network of rivers, canals, ponds, 
wetlands, floodplains, water treatment 
facilities, etc. Green infrastructure refers to 
trees, lawns, hedgerows, parks, fields, forest.

cOMPENSATION

Storing or removing emissions rather than 
avoiding or reducing.

cARBON BudGET

A simplified way to measure the additional 
emissions that can enter the atmosphere to 
stay below 1.5C (or any other temperature 
limit).

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Carbon Budget - what is it and 
why is it important?

cARBON cYcLE

The carbon cycle is the way carbon is stored 
and replaced on Earth. The main ways 
that carbon gets into the carbon cycle are 
volcanoes, and the burning of fossil fuels 
like coal and gas. The main way carbon 
gets taken out of the atmosphere is by 
photosynthesis by living organisms.

11

P
age 96

https://www.activetravel.org.uk/
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=258
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=258
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=XTC4qiXd36Q
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=XTC4qiXd36Q
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000mn4n/extinction-the-facts
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000mn4n/extinction-the-facts
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=blsTXGFdeDk
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=blsTXGFdeDk


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cARBON dIOXIdE EQuIVALENT 
(cO2E)

Different greenhouse gases, such as 
methane, nitrogen oxides, etc., have 
different impacts on the greenhouse 
gas effect. The gaseous emissions from 
greenhouse gases can be converted to the 
amount of CO2 needed to create the same 
effect. This is called the Carbon Dioxide 
equivalent (CO2 e) and allows reporting of a 
single figures for emissions.

cARBON FOOTPRINT

A carbon footprint is the total amount of 
greenhouse gases (including carbon dioxide 
and methane) that are generated by our 
actions

You can calculate your own footprint here:

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/

cARBON LITERAcY

Being aware of the impact of everyday 
activities on the climate, and knowing what 
steps can be taken to reduce emissions as 
an individual, a community group, or an 
organisation, and why it’s important that we 
all take these steps. 

You can find more information here 

https://carbonliteracy.com/

cARBON MANAGEMENT 
HIERARcHY

Some actions are better than others at 
producing more lasting reductions in 
emissions. Avoiding emissions in the first 
place needs to be prioritised over actions 
that remove or offset omissions.

cARBON NEuTRAL

Carbon neutral means that the amount of 
carbon that is emitted (released) is the same 
as that absorbed from the atmosphere. To 
achieve net zero emissions, all worldwide 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions will 
have to be counterbalanced by carbon 
sequestration.

cARBON SINK

Any system that absorbs more carbon than 
it emits. The main natural carbon sinks are 
soil, forests and oceans.

10

P
age 97

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/#/
https://carbonliteracy.com/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cIRcuLAR EcONOMY

A model of production and consumption, 
which involves sharing, leasing, reusing, 
repairing, refurbishing and recycling existing 
materials and products as long as possible. 
This is in contrast to the traditional, linear 
economic model, which is based on a take-
make-consume-throw away pattern.

A circular economy is based on three 
principles:

• Design out waste and pollution.

• Keep products and materials in use.

• Regenerate natural systems – favouring 
the use of renewable resources and 
enhancing natural systems by returning 
valuable nutrients to the soil.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Ellen McArthur Foundation’s 
Humans Changed the Face of the Earth, 
Now We Rethink Our Future

cLEAN ENERGY

Energy that creates little or no greenhouse 
gases and that does not pollute the 
atmosphere energy when used. 

cLIMATE cHANGE

Climate change is the changes in global 
weather patterns that are driven by 
global warming. If you want to know 
more, then you may want to watch David 
Attenborough’s Climate Change - The Facts.

cLIMATE cO-BENEFITS

Positive outcomes from action that are not 
directly related to climate change mitigation. 
Such co-benefits include cleaner air, green 
job creation, public health benefits from 
active travel, and biodiversity improvement 
through expansion of green space.

cLIMATE ENVELOPE

The climate where a species currently lives.

cOMMuNITY ORcHARdS

Community orchards are places for people 
to come together to plant and cultivate local 
and unusual varieties of fruit, and sometimes 
nut, trees often planted among grass full of 
wildflowers.

9

P
age 98

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m00049b1/climate-change-the-facts


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

dOuGHNuT EcONOMY

An economic theory developed by University 
of Oxford economist Professor Kate Raworth 
that suggests that a thriving human 
existence is only possible by considered use 
of available resources. The theory suggests 
that we risk catastrophic effects that are 
harmful to human life if we use too much 
of the available resources and that using 
earth’s resources unwisely can also lead to 
a shortfall, with humans existing in danger 
and hardship.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch Kate Raworth explain Doughnut 
Economics.

EcO-ScHOOLS

A programme that allows young people to 
introduce and lead environmental actions 
and education in their school.

You can find more information here: Eco 
Schools

EEMS

Energy Efficiency Measures

ELEcTRIc VEHIcLES (EV)

Electric vehicles are powered by electric 
motors. They get some or all their power 
from large, rechargeable batteries. Different 
categories include: 

All-electric EVs, where the battery is the only 
power source.

Plug-in Hybrids (PHEVs), which can switch 
between running on electricity or fossil fuels.

Hybrids (HEVs) which do not plug in and 
have a much smaller battery which is 
recharged while driving.

Fuel Cell Vehicles that generate their own 
electricity on-board from a fuel such as 
hydrogen.

EV cHARGING

There are three main types of charger:

Slow Typically rated up to 3kW with a 
charge time of 8-10 hours

Fast Typically rated at either 7kW or 22kW 
with a charge time of 3-4 hours

Rapid Typically rated from 43kW with a 
charge time of 30-60 mins (only compatible 
with EVs with a rapid charging capability)

The choice of connectors depends on the 
charger type (socket) and the vehicle’s 
inlet port. On the charger-side, rapid 
chargers use CHAdeMO, CCS (Combined 
Charging Standard) or Type 2 connectors. 
Fast and slow units usually use Type 2, 
Type 1, Commando, or 3-pin plug outlets. 
On the vehicle-side, European EV models 
(Audi, BMW, Renault, Mercedes, VW and 
Volvo) tend to have Type 2 inlets and the 
corresponding CCS rapid standard, while 
Asian manufacturers (Nissan and Mitsubishi) 
prefer a Type 1 and CHAdeMO inlet 
combination.

8

P
age 99

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=Ziw-wK03TSw&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=Ziw-wK03TSw&feature=youtu.be
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

EMISSIONS

Emissions are things (in this cases gases) 
that are given off or released into the air 
from things like factories and cars.

For our purposes, it is the release of the 
seven greenhouse gases specified in the 
Kyoto Protocol.

ENERGY EFFIcIENcY

Using less energy to do the same thing, 
such as heat a home. This can lower fuel 
consumption, reduce emissions and help 
tackle climate change. Measures to improve 
energy efficiency within buildings can 
include the installation of loft or cavity wall 
insulation (improving the energy efficiency 
of the building) or installing new appliances 
that are more energy-efficient (such as new 
heating systems).

EPc RATING 
ENERGY PERFORMANcE 
cERTIcATE (EPc)

This shows how much a building will cost 
to heat and light, what its carbon dioxide 
emissions are likely to be and what 
improvements can be made to improve its 
energy efficiency. An EPC rates a property 
in bands from A (most efficient) to G (least 
efficient) and is valid for 10 years from the 
date it’s issued. 

FOSSIL FuELS

A fuel (oil, coal or gas) that was formed from 
the remains of living organisms millions of 
years ago. Fossil fuels are non-renewable 
energy resources which are harmful for the 
environment because they release carbon 
dioxide, and other greenhouse gases and 
harmful air-polluting gases, when they burn.

GLOBAL WARMING

Global warming is the term used to describe 
the rising of the average temperature on 
Earth. It has to do with the overall climate 
of the Earth rather than the weather on any 
given day.

GREEN ENERGY

Energy from natural sources, such as the sun 
and wind.

7

P
age 100



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GREEN INFRASTRucTuRE

The network of green spaces including green 
roofs, living walls, parks, nature reserves, 
backyards and gardens, waterways and 
wetlands, streets and transport corridors, 
pathways and green corridors, squares and 
village greens, sports fields and cemeteries.

The National Planning Policy Framework 
defines Green infrastructure as: “A network 
of multi-functional green space, urban and 
rural, which is capable of delivering a wide 
range of environmental and quality of life 
benefits for local communities”.

The term is often used to also include ‘blue 
infrastructure.’

GREEN INFRASTRucTuRE 
PLANNING

Providing networks designed to link existing 
(and proposed) green spaces with green 
corridors running through towns, villages 
and rural areas.

GREEN JOBS

Jobs that have a direct, positive impact 
on the planet such as renewable energy, 
electric transport, energy efficiency or nature 
conservation.

GREEN SPAcE

All natural and semi-natural areas where 
vegetation such as trees, lawns, hedgerows, 
parks, fields, woods and forests grow (or 
could grow).

GREENHOuSE EFFEcT

The greenhouse effect is the rise in 
temperature that the Earth experiences 
because greenhouse gases trap energy 
from the sun.

GREENHOuSE GASES

Greenhouse gases are gases in Earth’s 
atmosphere that trap heat. They let sunlight 
pass through the atmosphere, but they 
prevent the heat that the sunlight brings 
from leaving the atmosphere. 

The Kyoto Protocol identifies seven 
greenhouse gases: Carbon dioxide 
(CO2), Methane (CH4), Nitrous oxide 
(N2O), Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), 
Perfluorocarbons (PFCs), Sulphur 
hexafluoride (SF6) and Nitrogen trifluoride 
(NF3).

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Royal Society’s The Basics of 
Climate Change

HABITATS

A habitat is a place where an animal lives 
and provides it with food, water and shelter. 
There are many different sorts of habitats 
around the world polar regions, to forests, 
grasslands and deserts.

6

P
age 101

https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/climate-change-evidence-causes/basics-of-climate-change/
https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/climate-change-evidence-causes/basics-of-climate-change/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

LOcAL PLAN

Local Plans are prepared by Local Planning 
Authorities and provide a local guide to what 
can be built where and shape how land use 
and places will change and develop in the 
future. Planning applications need to be 
in line with Local Plans otherwise they are 
unlikely to receive planning permission.

MASTER PLAN

A master plan is a long-term planning 
document that provides an ideal, imagined 
layout to guide land use and development.

MINIMuM ENERGY EFFIcIENcY 
STANdARdS (MEES)

The Domestic Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standard (MEES) Regulations set a minimum 
energy efficiency level for domestic private 
rented properties.

OFFSET

A carbon offset is a reduction in emissions of 
carbon dioxide or other greenhouse gases 
made to compensate for emissions made 
elsewhere. This includes things like land 
restoration or the planting of trees.

PAS 2030 STANdARd

Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 2030 
is a British Standards Institute (BSI) that sets 
out the requirements for commissioning, 
installation and handing over of Energy 
Efficiency Measures in existing buildings.

PAS 2035 STANdARd

Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 
2035 is a British Standards Institute (BSI) 
standard that applies to existing buildings 
and provides a procedure for building 
assessment, a guide to selecting the most 
appropriate energy efficiency measures 
and instructions for long-term monitoring. 
It also sets out the minimum standards of 
qualifications, roles and responsibilities, for 
anyone carrying out retrofitting

PROcuREMENT

The process by which goods or services are 
obtained, usually for business purposes.

RENEWABLE ENERGY

Energy from recyclable sources. most green 
energy sources are also renewable, not all 
renewable energy sources are considered 
entirely green.

5

P
age 102



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

REPuRPOSING

Adapting or finding a new use for something 
instead of throwing it away once it has been 
used.

RETROFITTING

Modifying existing buildings, vehicles or 
equipment to make them more energy 
efficient and reduce emissions.

ScOPE 1/2/3 EMISSIONS

Scope 1: direct emissions from owned or 
controlled sources.

Scope 2: indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased electricity, steam, 
heating and cooling consumed by the 
organisation.

Scope 3 includes all other indirect emissions 
that occur in an organisation’s value chain.

SEQuESTRATION

Removing carbon oxide from the 
atmosphere and then storing it is known as 
carbon sequestration.

SuSTAINABLE dEVELOPMENT

Development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs

SuSTAINABLE TRAVEL

Travelling in a way that minimises our 
negative impact on the planet.

uPcYcLING

Reusing objects or material that has been 
thrown away to create a product of higher 
quality or value than the original.

The way we travel

4

P
age 103



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT cAN I dO?
You can eliminate waste, reduce your 
carbon footprint and start making an impact 
right away by committing to some or all 
of the following actions. This isn’t a list of 
everything that you can do but we hope it 
gives you some ideas.

FOOd

• Set a goal of reducing the food waste in 
your home from its current levels.

• Commit to only buying what you need 
and eat what you buy.

• Avoid air-freighted food when they are 
out of season.

• Buy local food and support the local 
economy.

• Don’t leave the house without a reusable 
cup.

ELEcTRIcITY

• Take basic steps that cost nothing: turn 
lights off, hang washing out to dry, wash 
at a lower temperature and keep showers 
short. 

• Wear a jumper rather than turn the heat 
up, turn the thermostat down and turn 
radiators off in empty rooms (if you can 
without risking your health).

• Seek help if you are struggling to keep 
warm

• If you can afford to invest in your home, 
prioritise the carbon cutting measures 
that have the biggest impact: insulation 
(starting with drafts, then the loft, 
windows and walls), smart heating 
(efficient boilers, remote controls that 
include radiators), and lastly considering 
solar panels or heat pumps.

• Consider options for buying electricity 
from a green energy provider if they can 
demonstrate that your bill goes entirely 
towards additional renewable power.

TRANSPORTATION

• Aim to fly less and support your local 
economy through staycations

• Cut car emissions by walking, cycling, 
using public transport, car sharing or 
working from home.

• Consider buying an electric or plug-in 
hybrid if you can and only if you need a 
new car. 

3

P
age 104



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

PuRcHASES 

• Consume less

• Consume wisely. Consider the supply 
chain and think about the carbon 
footprint, fair livelihoods and all other 
sustainability criteria. 

• Buy local.

• Buy high quality things where you can 
and make them last, buy things that are 
designed to be repairable and sell on or 
give away when you have finished with 
them.

• Choose the most energy-efficient white 
goods. 

INVESTMENTS

• Use any money you have to help create 
the future you want to see.

• Look at options for investing in pension 
and saving schemes that don’t support 
fossil fuel companies and prioritise those 
that invest in the things we urgently need, 
such as renewables and reforestation.

“Very few of us are squeaky clean 
in carbon terms. You don’t have 
to become so overnight but most 
of us do need to make serious 
changes over the next few years. 
It’s important to keep moving in 
the right direction and enjoy the 
process of cutting carbon out of 
our lives. Don’t beat yourself up, 
but don’t let yourself off the hook 
either.”

Professor Mike Berners-Lee, Lancaster 
University

2

P
age 105



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

dO ALL YOu cAN

• Put a plan in place and 
work your way through it.

Adopt the 5 R’s

• Refuse – say no to the stuff 
that you don’t need and that 
becomes instant waste

• Reduce – what do you 
actually need, how much do 
you need, how long it will 
last?

• Reuse – can you reuse 
or repair it before throwing 
stuff away?

• Recycle – aim for 
products that can be 
recycled and then put them 
in the correct bin

• Rot – how about 
composting?

1

Staffordshire
Moorlands

The waY WE MANAGE WASTE

P
age 106



THE FINAL WORd
“We are at a unique stage in our history. 
Never before have we had such an 
awareness of what we are doing to the 
planet, and never before have we had the 
power to do something about that. Surely 
we all have a responsibility to care for our 
Blue Planet. The future of humanity and 
indeed, all life on earth, now depends on us.”

David Attenborough, “Our Blue Planet”

0ZER

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
 

8th November 2021 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendices Attached 
Appendix A – Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) – Scrutiny Review 

Appendix B – Scrutiny Review Workshop – Notes from Breakout Group 
Discussions  
Appendix C – CfGS Recommendations – Suggested Response   

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is consider the response to the feedback provided 

by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) following completion of 
their recent review of the Council’s Scrutiny arrangements.  

 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:  
 

 Consider the feedback from CfGS as detailed in Appendix A; and  

 Consider the suggested response to the recommendations set out in 

Appendix C.   
 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 CfGS were commissioned to conduct a ‘step back’ review of the Council’s 
Overview & Scrutiny arrangements. The review was conducted earlier this 

year and the conclusions were reported back to the Council in April. Their 
report is attached at Appendix A..  

 

3.2 An all member workshop was held in September to enable CfGS to share their 
findings and to provide an opportunity for councillors to give some initial 

feedback. The notes from the discussions at the workshop are attached at 

TITLE: Scrutiny Review 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Sybil Ralphs – Leader 

  
CONTACT OFFICER: Andrew Stokes – Chief Executive 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 109

Agenda Item 6



  

Appendix B. It was suggested and agreed at the workshop that each of the 
Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Panels should be given the opportunity to 
discuss the findings further and consider how the Council should take the 

recommendations forward.    
 

3.3 CfGS make 12 recommendations for improvement. In order to assist members 
of the Panel with their considerations attached at Appendix C is a summary of 
CfGS’s recommendations within a suggested response. 

 
3.4 Following the consideration of this report by all of the Council’s Overview & 

Scrutiny Panels a final report will be prepared for consideration by a meeting 
of the full Council.  

 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Effective scrutiny is essential in order that the Council can successfully 
achieve its objectives and priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage 

 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
None 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
None 

 
6.5 Legal 

The Council’s Constitution Working Group will need to work 

through the detail of any final proposals for change including 
considering the necessary changes to the Council’s Constitution  

 
6.6 Climate Change 

None 

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

Feedback was provided by the CfGS to an all member workshop 

Page 110



  

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
None 

 
ANDREW P STOKES 

Chief Executive 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 

As attached to the report 

Andrew Stokes 

Chief Executive 
andrew.stokes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 

  

Page 111

mailto:andrew.stokes@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


  

 
7. Background and Introduction 

 

7.1 Maintaining effective scrutiny is a challenge for all local authorities and no 
council can profess excellence in scrutiny across the board – there are always 

areas of weakness which, left untended, can develop into flaws in scrutiny 
which can have a more significant impact on effectiveness overall.  

 

7.2 The Council has not undertaken a comprehensive review of its scrutiny 
arrangements for some time and it was therefore considered to be appropriate 

to conduct a review for two purposes: 
 

 In order to give assurance about existing practices; and 

 Challenge and provide further improvements.  
 

7.3 The Local Government Association (LGA) were approached to ascertain the 
most appropriate way forward for conducting a review. The LGA referred the 
Council to the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS).  

 
7.4 The CfGC provides external support to give assurance and advice on 

improving governance in local authorities. They offer a number of 
improvement reviews which help local authorities to evaluate and improve 
their overview and scrutiny functions – governed by the fundamental [“four 

principles” of good scrutiny] that were first developed nearly twenty years ago.  
 

7.5 During the COVID-19 pandemic, CfGS developed ‘step back reviews’. These 
reviews are geared to give the opportunity for councils to conduct short, sharp 
reviews to identify lessons learned to inform the approach to any new 

arrangements that emerge for the ‘new normal’. The review is designed to be 
challenging, but essentially also to be constructive in suggesting ways to drive 

forward improvement.  
 
7.6 Consequently with the support of the Council’s political group leaders, CfGS 

were commissioned to conduct a ‘step back’ review. The LGA agreed to fund 
50% of the cost of conducting the review. 

 
7.7 The review was conducted earlier this year and the conclusions were reported 

back to the Council in April. An all member workshop was held in September 

to enable the CfGS to share their findings and to provide an opportunity for 
councillors to give some initial feedback. 

 
7.8 It was suggested and agreed at the workshop that each of the Council’s 

Overview & Scrutiny Panels should be given the opportunity to discuss the 

findings further and consider how the Council should take the 
recommendations forward.    

 
 
8 CfGS Review 

  
8.1 The review was short and simple based on assessing the following:  

  

Page 112



  

 Culture. The relationships, communication and behaviours underpinning 

the operation of the overview and scrutiny process. This will also involve 
the Council’s corporate approach, organisational commitment, and status 

of scrutiny.  
 Member engagement. Are members motivated and engaged. How do 

they participate, take responsibility, and self-manage their role?  
 Member skills and application. Are skills up-to-date and can Members 

participate fully or are there development gaps?  
 Information. How information is prepared, shared, accessed and used in 

the service of the scrutiny function.  

 Impact. Ways to ensure that scrutiny is effective, that it makes a tangible 

and positive difference to the effectiveness of the council, and to local 

people.   
 Focus. How prioritisation, timeliness and relevance of the work 

programme and agendas lead to value-adding and productivity.   
 Structure. Formats used by scrutiny to carry out its works and their 

effectiveness.   

  
8.2 It involved conversations with members and officers, observation of meetings 

(recordings or live online), a review of key documents; agendas, work 
programmes etc and a short member survey.  

  

8.3 This methodology aligns with both latest statutory guidance and best practice 
experience accumulated by CfGS over many years. This review therefore 

evaluated the Council’s approach to scrutiny in the light of the guidance and 
best-practice with a view to help to explore with members ways to improve 
scrutiny.  

 
  
9 Outcome from the Review 

 
9.1 CfGS’s report back to the Council following completion of the review is 

attached at Appendix A. 
 

9.2 CfGS concluded that ‘Scrutiny has the conditions for success’ and further 
that ‘there are no critical issues for scrutiny at SMDC and the 
contributions that scrutiny makes are seen as mostly positive’. 

  
9.3 The Council wide buy-in for scrutiny was recognised, and there was significant 

praise given to the Democratic Services team and all officers involved in 
supporting scrutiny at SMDC. 

  

9.4 During the feedback given to CFGS throughout the review, working groups 
were highlighted as a model example of successful scrutiny. Both members 

and officers consider they have worked well and there is strong evidence of 
them making an impact on issues such as waste and recycling services. It was 
noted by CfGS that it would be valuable to learn what makes working groups 

successful in SMDC, continuing those activities, and applying these 
techniques to committee working or expanding their use. 

 
9.5 CfGS provided feedback on the following issues: 

Page 113



  

 

 Clarity on scrutiny’s role and responsibilities 

 Collaborative approach to scrutiny 

 Scrutiny – Executive relationship 

 Scrutiny’s focus 

 Work programming 

 Meeting preparation 

 Chairing 

 Member development 

 Committee structure and timetabling 

 External engagement 

 
9.6 CfGS make 12 recommendations for improvement. These are detailed in the 

report attached at Appendix A.  

 
 
10 Taking the Recommendations Forward 

 
10.1  CfGS presented their report to an all member workshop which was held on 

29th September 2021. Members had the opportunity to feedback their initial 
thoughts on the findings contained within the report. A summary of the 

discussion at the workshop is attached at Appendix B. 
 
10.2 It was agreed at this workshop that each of the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny 

Panels should have the opportunity to discuss the findings further at their next 
meetings. 

 
10.3 In order to be helpful, attached at Appendix C is a summary of CfGS’s 

recommendations within a suggested response. 

 
10.4 The suggested improvements are as follows:  

 
 Member Development 

 Programme of training / development for non-executive councillors  

 Ongoing training and development for Chairs / Vice Chairs of Scrutiny 
 

Cabinet / Scrutiny Relationship 

 Review Executive / Scrutiny Protocol 

 
Scrutiny Work Programming  

 Establish Overview & Scrutiny Programming Group including Cabinet / O & 

S Panel Chairs / Opposition Group Leaders to review and monitor Scrutiny 
Work Programmes 

 Annual scrutiny workshop to confirm Work Programmes 

 Reorder Overview & Scrutiny Panel’s agendas to consider work 

programming at the start of the meeting  
 

Meeting Preparation 

 Develop approach with Chairs of Panels to consider pre-meetings and 
preparation work  

Page 114



  

 
Committee Structure & Timetabling 

 Review number of Overview & Scrutiny Panels 

 Consider structure of Panels and potential to create sub-groups to focus on 
specific areas of work  

 Explore and experiment with ways to allow greater public access, 
openness and involvement 

 
10.5 Following the consideration of this report by all of the Council’s Overview & 

Scrutiny Panels a final report will be prepared for consideration by a meeting 

of the full Council. The Council’s Constitution Working Group will need to then 
work through the detail including the necessary changes to the Council’s 

Constitution. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Andrew Stokes 

Chief Executive 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

April 2021 

 

Dear Andrew, 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Short Scrutiny Improvement Review – CfGS consultancy support 

I am writing to thank you for inviting the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) to carry out an 
evaluation of the Council’s scrutiny function. This letter provides feedback on our review findings 
and offers suggestions on how the Council could develop its scrutiny process. We would like the 
opportunity as part of this process to facilitate a workshop with Members and Officers, to reflect on 
this review and to discuss options for improvement. 

 

Background Following a successful review at High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) commissioned CfGS to review the Council’s scrutiny arrangements through its Scrutiny Panels.  

The purpose of the review was to give the Council an external perspective on how well the current 
model of scrutiny is functioning, and fulfilling its essential role of policy shaping, holding the 
Executive to account and reviewing issues of importance to local communities. 
 
CfGS undertook a review of the current scrutiny arrangements, involving two days of evidence 
gathering through conversations with Members and Officers on 18th and 19th January 2021. In 
addition, we observed Scrutiny Panel meetings, reviewed key documents, and created and 
analysed a Member survey. 
 
CfGS met with 16 Members and 5 Officers, including the Council Leader, Group Leaders, Scrutiny 
Chairs, Members of the Scrutiny Panels, the Council’s senior leadership team as well as 
Governance and Democratic Services Officers. 
 
The review was conducted by the CfGS staff: 

 Jacqui McKinlay – Chief Executive - Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

 Kate Grigg – Senior Research Officer – Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

 
The findings and recommendations presented in this letter are intended to advise SMDC in 
strengthening the quality of scrutiny activities, increasing the impact of its outputs, and through its 
Members, to develop a strong and shared understanding of the role and capability of the scrutiny 
function. 
 
 
 
 
 
Summary of findings 

 
1. Positive areas to build upon 

 
1.1. Scrutiny has the conditions for success 

Page 117



 

 

 
Overall, there are no critical issues with scrutiny at SMDC and the contributions that scrutiny 
makes are seen as mostly positive. It was recognised that improvement was needed to ensure the 
time and resource dedicated to scrutiny delivered more impact and greater value. 
 
The conditions for successful scrutiny are present at SMDC; scrutiny enjoys significant support 
from senior Officers and democratic services, the Executive recognises the benefits of scrutiny in 
good governance, and Members of scrutiny want to ensure improved outcomes for communities. 

Considering the changes in SMDC’s political composition since the 2019 local elections, there is 
now a need for the Council to reflect on how they to adapt existing ways of working that embraces 
and responds to more effective and robust challenge. Scrutiny itself should remain politically 
neutral but the dynamics have obviously altered, creating an opportunity for Scrutiny Members, 
and the Executive, to consider its role and how they best work together to challenge, support and 
advise. 

1.2. Officer support 

 
At the senior Officer level there is wide buy-in for scrutiny and it is clear that the Council’s 
corporate management team is committed to supporting scrutiny. In addition, the relevant Director 
being assigned to each committee sends a message of organisational commitment across the 
Council and is seen as adding value to the work of each panel.  
 

We would like to highlight the praise given to the democratic services team and all Officers 
involved in supporting scrutiny at SMDC. Unprompted comments were made to us about the 
quality and responsiveness of Officer support, and the feedback from Members is amongst the 
most positive we have heard when conducting reviews.  
 

1.4. Working groups 

When asked about the most successful scrutiny work at SMDC, many answers nominated the 
working groups as a model example. Members and Officers consider they have worked well and 
there is strong evidence of them making an impact on issues such as waste and recycling 
services.  

It would be valuable to learn what makes working groups successful in SMDC, continuing those 
activities, and applying these techniques to committee working or expanding their use. 
 

2. Suggested areas of improvement 
 
2.1. Clarity on scrutiny’s role and responsibilities 

 

Scrutiny’s overall role is to hold the Executive to account, to carry out policy development, 
contribute to improved decision-making, and channel the voice of the public. Generally, this role is 
well understood, and most Members are able to articulate the purpose and contribution scrutiny 
should be making. However, it appears that in practice, challenge is not as robust as it ought to be 
from Members of the administration, and some felt that scrutiny was sometimes being used by the 
opposition for political purposes.  

 Our conversations suggest a need for more clarity on how scrutiny’s role is undertaken in a 
cross-party manner. This is about developing a shared understanding of the particular and 
unique way for scrutiny to add value to council governance. On a strategic level, there 
needs to be more of an emphasis on seeing scrutiny as a vital part of council business and 
governance, with clear ownership regarding its important role in improving policy and 
holding to account.  

Page 118



 

 

 
2.2. Collaborative approach to scrutiny 

 

Scrutiny is meant to be a forum for the evidence-based discussion of issues affecting local people. 
Most agreed with the principle that scrutiny is more effective when it is a collaborative approach 
between Members, with politics left at the door (as much as is practicably possible), and an equal 
voice given to all. Members recognised this and could give examples of when scrutiny has dealt 
with contentious matters, and the importance of having strong and productive working relationships 
within committees. 

There is evidence that the tone taken in questioning within scrutiny can at times be perceived as 
combative rather than constructive, which diminishes scrutiny as a forum for open and candid 
exchange. Members should have regard to the expectations set out in the Council’s Member Code 
of Conduct regarding respectful behaviour and leading by example. 

There is a mixed level of engagement from some scrutiny Members, and as indicated, Members of 
the opposition tend to show greater levels of involvement within committee meetings. Effective 
challenge from all Members of scrutiny and an active opposition are healthy governance 
behaviours in any democratic body.  

 There was a broad agreement that all Members have a duty to uphold their responsibilities 
as a scrutineer, attend meetings and work towards a shared goal in their committee. This is 
an aspect that needs further emphasis. 
 

2.3. Scrutiny – Executive relationship 

 
It is important to have a culture of trust, transparency and mutual respect between scrutiny and the 
Executive, to enable open and candid exchanges. Without regular communication and information 
sharing, scrutiny will be unable to act in a supportive capacity to the Executive. Positive 
engagement between the Executive and scrutiny, both formal and informal, is vital to the scrutiny 
process. 
 
We heard that overall, there is limited challenge of Executive decisions, with opposition Members 
tending to undertake this vital task of scrutiny. To achieve effective democratic accountability 
scrutiny, through collective endeavour, needs to focus on the Executive, ensuring questions are 
directed to the relevant portfolio holder and focused on clear priorities. 
  
There is evidence of Officers in some cases being scrutinised more than Executive Members. The 
experience from elsewhere is that when Executive Members attend and are the focus of the 
questioning, a more strategic exchange takes place and better recommendations achieved. 
 
The ‘Protocol on Portfolio Holders’ Involvement in the Scrutiny Process’ in SMDC’s constitution 
highlights regular engagement and the benefit scrutiny receives from Executive Members’ 
expertise in their given portfolio, as well as the benefit the Executive receives from scrutiny’s 
feedback.  
 

 SMDC may consider reviewing the Executive-Scrutiny protocol to outline and reaffirm 
expectations, and to improve communication and co-ordination between scrutiny and the 
Executive. An Executive-Scrutiny protocol should deal with the practical workings of 
scrutiny as well as the cultural dynamics. It might also be useful for feedback on scrutiny’s 
recommendations to be formalised within the protocol, in order for the panels to monitor the 
progress of their output.  

 
2.4. Scrutiny’s focus 

 

Page 119



 

 

There is a recognition that scrutiny needs to focus more on strategic issues, where it can have 
influence, and that scrutiny should input into the decision-making process at an earlier stage than it 
does currently. The overall high quality of scrutiny’s working groups is evidence that this part of the 
system is working well. However, scrutiny work in committee does not always benefit from the 
same focus.  
 
Scrutiny should focus its attention on cross-cutting issues which affect communities across the 
district, avoiding parochial issues affecting single wards. There are missed opportunities for 
scrutiny to add value and to be an integral part of the Council’s corporate plans and overall 
improvement.  
 

 For scrutiny to be more strategic there needs to be change from both scrutiny and the 
Executive. If the Council wants more emphasis on shaping policy, challenging and holding 
to account, then scrutiny will need earlier access to and involvement with the core policy 
and decision-making activities of the Executive. 

 
There are some examples of duplication, in the Health Scrutiny Panel we heard of the same issues 
being considered by SMDC and the County Council’s health scrutiny - dedicating time to issues 
which are unlikely to change or be influenced by recommendations.  
 
Some panels would benefit from a clearer focus on where the committee can add value or 
influence change. For the majority of the substantive items on scrutiny agendas there is not a 
clearly articulated outcome from scrutiny’s consideration of the topic. When topics are reviewed the 
focus tends to be operational rather than strategic or outcome focused. Often, reports do not ask 
Members to “do” anything other than to note them and recommendations at the scrutiny meetings 
could also be sharper in their focus.  
 

 We noted that scrutiny could be more involved in the budget process, and at an earlier 
stage for any meaningful input. Scrutinising the Council’s finances, including the medium-
term financial plan, monitoring financial and operational performance, together with 
commercial partnerships and other external arrangements does not seem to be sufficiently 
explored.  

 
We have produced guidance, in partnership with CIPFA, on financial scrutiny1 setting out scrutiny 
activity to complement the council’s annual financial cycle. The guide suggests ways to move 
budget and finance scrutiny beyond set-piece scrutiny ‘events’ in December and quarterly financial 
performance scorecards being reported to committee. 
 

2.5. Work programming 
 
Work programming is key to ensuring scrutiny stays focussed on strategic issues where it can 
make an impact, whilst making the best use of time and resources. In this respect prioritisation is 
essential, and scrutiny could benefit from an agreed methodology to filter and select topics for the 
work programme (we have provided some examples of scrutiny work programming 
selection/prioritisation tools in the Appendix). Furthermore, scrutiny will need to organise a work 
programme that is Member-led in order to have ownership over committee activity.  
 
Work programming does appear to be more effective in Resources Scrutiny Panel, than other 
committees.  
 

                                                 
1
 CfGS & CIPFA (2020) ‘Financial scrutiny, practice guide’ - https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/Financial-scrutiny-practice-guide_proof3.pdf  

Page 120

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Financial-scrutiny-practice-guide_proof3.pdf
https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Financial-scrutiny-practice-guide_proof3.pdf


 

 

 We recommend an annual process for developing the work programme across all of the 
scrutiny committees, engaging Members, Officers, partners and the public to prioritise the 
topics for review. This will help avoid duplication and ensure that Members’ work in scrutiny 
makes the most effective contribution possible on the most important issues to the district. 
Work programming could take place through a Member workshop, where a shortlist of 
priority topics for the next 12 months are identified according to a selection criteria, 
discussed on their merit for scrutiny, and voted on.  

 
It is important to emphasise that work programming is an ongoing process and not just a one-off 
event. Whilst a workshop will help identify priorities and provide structure to work for the months 
ahead, there will need to be flexibility in the work programme and time set aside to regularly revisit 
the relevance of topics as the local context changes.  
 

 Currently the work programme is the last item on the agenda at scrutiny meetings, we 
would recommend bringing it to the beginning, so it can benefit from more considered 
discussion rather than being subject to the inevitable end of meeting fatigue.  
 

2.6. Meeting preparation 
 

From our observations of committees, there is little evidence of co-ordinated questions (outside of 
the designated portfolio holder question time) or Members acting as a team with clear lines of 
inquiry. It has been highlighted that a number of Members do not prepare sufficiently for scrutiny 
meetings, leading to the presentation of Officer reports that should have been read in advance and 
a missed opportunity for insightful questioning. It is important the time spent in committee is well 
spent.  

A small number of Members felt that reports were long and make demanding reading, which may 
prevent some Members from fully engaging. The practice of submitting reports for noting, for 
information, or inviting speakers only to share information, should be avoided. All of the above 
measures regarding meeting preparation will result in shorter, sharper meetings. 

 SMDC should consider introducing pre-meetings before formal committee between all 
scrutiny Members to provide the space to set common objectives and possibly to reach 
consensus on lines of enquiry and questioning strategy.  

 
2.7. Chairing 

 

Scrutiny’s success is dependent on the right Members, with the right capabilities and attributes, 
leading and managing the scrutiny function. Current chairs at SMDC have varying levels of 
confidence in being able to lead and manage the scrutiny function in a timely and effective manner. 

Chairs have an important role in providing leadership, modelling constructive behaviour and 
ensuring well managed meetings. In some committee meetings, chairs failed to keep meetings on 
track by allowing lengthy contributions, drift or repetition. For every item on the agenda there 
should be an overall purpose in scrutinising it, and it is the role of the chair to focus the panel’s 
attention on this - the question should always be ‘Why is this coming to scrutiny and what is its 
purpose?’. 

The lack of opposition Members involved in scrutiny chairing roles was raised as an issue in our 
evidence gathering. There is no single ‘right’ approach to selecting chairs - the emphasis ought to 
be on selecting chairs based on skill set and capability and providing ongoing training and support.  
 

2.8. Member development 

 

Page 121



 

 

Scrutiny provides an excellent opportunity for broader Member engagement and to support 
Members in getting an in-depth understanding of issues. To get the most out of scrutiny, Members 
need a clear sense of what is required of them as panel Members and the work involved which 
allows good scrutiny to happen. This should draw on the Council’s Member code of conduct which 
will help reaffirm expected behaviours. 
 
We observed that the quality of questioning in scrutiny panels varies; in some instances, it is 
forensic and probing, but it is often more general and exploratory and sometimes superficial. 
SMDC is clearly committed to Member development, and training was raised by some Members, 
who were clearly aware of the gaps in their knowledge and understanding.  
 

 We recommend further ‘refresher’ scrutiny training, with an update on scrutiny essentials, 
as well as a specific focus on good questioning skills and chairing skills. Since the use of 
call-in has increased it might be appropriate to include in the scrutiny refresher training to 
ensure understanding of its purpose. For some Members, a more bespoke approach 
through coaching, mentoring or one-to-one training may be more effective to achieve the 
standards desired by Members and the Council.  

 

2.9. Committee structure and timetabling 

 
Changing the structure of scrutiny committees is rarely a universal solution to bring about 
immediate changes, the cultural issues are more important. However, we received feedback from 
the majority of interviewees (Members and Officers) that the current structure of four scrutiny 
committees for a council the size of SMDC is not the most effective use of resources. 
 
The council’s internal review of scrutiny in 2014/15 identified local authorities of a similar size to 
SMDC tend to operate with less scrutiny committees. 

 We would advise SMDC to review the number of committees. The Health Scrutiny Panel 
often deals with matters outside the Council’s responsibility and duplication with County 
Council health scrutiny was reported. Merging the Health Panel with the Communities 
Panel is one option, as there appears to be significant crossover between the two, this 
would enable Officer and Member resources to be more focussed.  

 The 19 Members sitting on each panel is also a very high number to enable effective 
scrutiny and provide opportunities for everyone to engage. A reduction in committee 
Membership should also be considered.  

Currently the scrutiny committees at SMDC tend to meet on a cycle that falls shortly before 
Cabinet, which can inevitably lead to a focus on upcoming Cabinet decisions, rather than focussing 
on scrutiny’s independent work plan.  
 
Effective forward planning should allow for scrutiny to be forewarned months in advance of 
particularly critical decisions. Scheduling scrutiny meetings further upstream of the decision-
making process and meeting more frequently, but with shorter and more focused agendas, can 
relieve the burden of longer meeting cycles. Such forward planning also helps with fitting greater 
pre-decision scrutiny into the committee cycle. 
 

 In terms of both the number of committees and frequency of meetings at SMDC, there are 
clear advantages of having fewer committees which meet on a more regular basis.  

 

2.10. External engagement 

Page 122



 

 

It has been highlighted that many presentations from outside bodies to some panels are regarded 
as ‘show and tell’ sessions. In carrying out ‘external’ scrutiny work, it is important to ensure that 
scrutiny has a clear focus on objectives and is able to influence outcomes concerning the topic 
discussed.  

Regarding public engagement, scrutiny could explore and experiment with ways to allow greater 
access, openness and involvement. This could include inviting the public to offer ideas for work 
programmes and greater use of social media channels for resident input and communicating the 
progress and impact of scrutiny work. 

 
Thank you and acknowledgements 

 
This short review forms part of a Member development programme which includes training and 
development sessions to be facilitated by CfGS. 
 
We would like to thank the Chairs, Scrutiny Panel Members, Executive Members, and Officers who 
took part in interviews and the survey for their time, insights and open views.  
 
Yours sincerely,   
 
Kate Grigg 
Senior Research Officer / Review Lead 
  

Page 123



 

 

Appendix – Examples of scrutiny work programming selection/prioritisation tools 
 
Waverley Borough Council2 

 

                                                 
2
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5879/selection_criteria_for_overview_and_scrutiny_to

pics.pdf 
 

Page 124

https://www.waverley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5879/selection_criteria_for_overview_and_scrutiny_topics.pdf
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/5879/selection_criteria_for_overview_and_scrutiny_topics.pdf


 

 

South Cambridgeshire District Council3   

                                                 
3
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50149/Criteria%20for%20Scrutiny%20and%20Overview%20

Topic%20Selection.pdf 

Page 125

https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50149/Criteria%20for%20Scrutiny%20and%20Overview%20Topic%20Selection.pdf
https://scambs.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s50149/Criteria%20for%20Scrutiny%20and%20Overview%20Topic%20Selection.pdf


 

 

Warwickshire County Council4 

 

                                                 
4
 https://api.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/WCCC-970-53 

Page 126

https://api.warwickshire.gov.uk/documents/WCCC-970-53


Scrutiny Review Workshop 
Breakout Room Notes 

29 September 2021 

 
Room 1  
 

Cllrs Atkins, Bowen, Flunder, Gledhill, Hall, Herdman 

Andrew Stokes, Sarah Porru Sally Hampton 
 

 Due to the major changes with Health and Social Care some members were 
reluctant for the Health & Community Panels to be merged. Much consideration 
also needed to be given to environmental/climate change items. There could be 

occasions when it would be more effective for the 2 Panels to join on certain 
subjects.  

 There should be a degree of flexibility as to when scrutiny panels met, meetings 
should be shorter, focus on more topical strategic issues and meet more 

frequently. Presentations should not be overlong. 

 Duplication may occur if matters were dealt with by the County’s Health & Care 
Committee and the SMDC Health Panel. It was highlighted that the Health Panel 

should focus on matters which were specific to the Moorlands. 

 There were suggestions for the Health Panel to consider Primary Care and 

matters occurring outside of the County. 

 Some members were of the opinion that they needed to feel they had more 

ownership of the improvement to policies 

 More recommendations needed to be made by scrutiny panels and fewer reports 
should be received for noting. 

 Pre-meetings were welcomed to assist with a questioning strategy and to ensure 
members were better prepared. 

 There was agreement that more questions were required from members of the 
ruling group and an analysis of member participation at meetings was requested. 

A suggestion was made for Chairs to encourage more questions during 
meetings. 

 The level of public involvement in meetings should be increased and the Council 

should publicise the work carried out by the scrutiny panels. 
 

 
Room 2 
 

Cllrs Hart, Hawkins, Holmes, Hoptroff, Jackson 
Tanya Cooper, Pat Trafford 

 

 Poor response to questionnaire – more needed. 

 Agenda items arrive too late and often too big.  

 SMDC not informing the public what we’re doing e.g. Climate Change. As a result 
– rarely any feedback. 

 Many members left in the cold. Scrutiny seems to be on a decision, not an idea. 

 Recent Call-ins were badly put together. 

 Questions need to be put directly to Portfolio Holders in advance to give chance 
to prepare an answer. 

Page 127



 Lack of involvement from Conservative members of Panels – silenced by the 
Leader. 

 Huge agendas – too much too late. Needs bite-size chunks. 

 Some members don’t read in advance. Not the case at Resources. 

 Resources – more able to pick out a relevant section to concentrate on. 

 Need a ‘progress’ column in the WP, should be earlier in the agenda. 

 Need more Panels with fewer members & smaller spheres of influence. 

 Panels should be equal balance politically. 

 Need less Panels – 3 ideal. 

 Pre-meetings - won’t work if cross-party. Labour already do their own. 

 Pre-meetings - good where external guests are attending so that questions can 
be co-ordinated. Not needed if no guests. 

 
 
Room 3  

 

Cllrs Jones, Page, Plant, Price, Riley,  
Neil Rodgers, Jacqui McKinlay 

 

 Sceptical/ dismissive that members skills are considered when choosing 

committee chairs.  

 Keen to see a members’ skills audit take place so the leader know what’s about 

each members’ experience and skills and what they can bring to different roles 
and committees. 

 Concern about the accessibility of meetings and opportunities due to the timings 
of meeting for those people working or with caring responsibilities.  

 Concerned about the lack of challenge from the ruling group members in 

committee meetings. The opposition do lots of preparation and some others are 
not reading the papers.  

 Would like to see less presentations and for information items at the meetings.  

 A view that there is not enough business to keep all the committees busy and this 

leads to them being cancelled at the last minute.  

 Some cabinet members do not take scrutiny seriously, if they are there, they do 
take accountability for items.  

 Talk of needing more information to members more widely, rather than using 
scrutiny as a way to keep them informed and leading to more information sharing 

than scrutiny. This would help scrutiny meetings to be more focused.  
 

 
Room 4  

 

Cllrs Coleman, Ralphs, Roberts, Shaw, Sheldon, Swindlehurst, Taylor 
Mark Trillo, Kate Grigg 

 

 Discussion about the value of a pre-meet: some members had reservations 
around a potential doubling-up of work, but the need to keep it short and 

focussed on objectives and lines of inquiry rather than scripting or rehearsing was 
emphasised. 

Page 128



 Some members keen to use the pre-meet to bring their own professional/life 
experience into the process as well as co-ordinating that with other members, 

and take a lead on topics they are knowledgeable about. 

 All members very keen to see more pre-decision scrutiny, and scrutiny getting 

involved at an earlier stage in decision-making. 

 Administration members wanting to ensure that challenge was seen as positive. 

 POLITICS: (formed the bulk of our discussion) all members a bit sceptical about 
scrutiny improvement as politics was seen as such a barrier. Leader very aware 

that politics cannot be removed from the situation and saw it as an issue in 
implementing any changes with scrutiny.  

 Culture perceived by all as very us vs. them and a recognition that unless it is 

properly dealt with and members change the way in which they work then it will 
continue to hinder the process. 

 The size of committees highlighted as an issue, and the fact that all members are 
rarely in attendance – many mentioned reviewing it to consider quality rather than 
quantity. 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
 

CfGS – Scrutiny Review Recommendations – Suggested Response 
 

Area CfGS Recommendations Suggested Response 

Member development We recommend further ‘refresher’ scrutiny 
training, with an update on scrutiny 
essentials, as well as a specific focus on 
good questioning skills and chairing skills. 
Since the use of call-in has increased it might 
be appropriate to include in the scrutiny 
refresher training to ensure understanding of 
its purpose. For some Members, a more 
bespoke approach through coaching, 
mentoring or one-to-one training may be 
more effective to achieve the standards 
desired by Members and the Council.  

 Programme of training / 
development for non-executive 
councillors  

 Ongoing training and 
development for Chairs / Vice 
Chairs of Scrutiny 

Clarity on scrutiny’s role and 
responsibilities 
 

Our conversations suggest a need for more 
clarity on how scrutiny’s role is undertaken in 
a cross-party manner. This is about 
developing a shared understanding of the 
particular and unique way for scrutiny to add 
value to council governance. On a strategic 
level, there needs to be more of an emphasis 
on seeing scrutiny as a vital part of council 
business and governance, with clear 
ownership regarding its important role in 
improving policy and holding to account.  
 

Collaborative approach to 
scrutiny 
 

There was a broad agreement that all 
Members have a duty to uphold their 
responsibilities as a scrutineer, attend 
meetings and work towards a shared goal in 
their committee. This is an aspect that needs 
further emphasis. 
 

Scrutiny – Executive relationship 
 

SMDC may consider reviewing the 
Executive-Scrutiny protocol to outline and 
reaffirm expectations, and to improve 
communication and co-ordination between 
scrutiny and the Executive. An Executive-
Scrutiny protocol should deal with the 
practical workings of scrutiny as well as the 
cultural dynamics. It might also be useful for 
feedback on scrutiny’s recommendations to 
be formalised within the protocol, in order for 
the panels to monitor the progress of their 
output.  

 Review Executive / Scrutiny 
Protocol 

Scrutiny’s focus 
 

For scrutiny to be more strategic there needs 
to be change from both scrutiny and the 
Executive. If the Council wants more 
emphasis on shaping policy, challenging and 
holding to account, then scrutiny will need 
earlier access to and involvement with the 
core policy and decision-making activities of 
the Executive. 

 Establish Overview & Scrutiny 
Programming Group: 
o Cabinet / O & S Panel Chairs 

/ Opposition Group Leaders 
o Consider Cabinet Work 

Programme and agree 
forward plan of scrutiny 
work 

We noted that scrutiny could be more 
involved in the budget process, and at an 
earlier stage for any meaningful input. 
Scrutinising the Council’s finances, including 
the medium-term financial plan, monitoring 
financial and operational performance, 
together with commercial partnerships and 
other external arrangements does not seem 
to be sufficiently explored.  

Work programming We recommend an annual process for  Annual scrutiny workshop to 

Page 131



Area CfGS Recommendations Suggested Response 
 developing the work programme across all of 

the scrutiny committees, engaging Members, 
Officers, partners and the public to prioritise 
the topics for review. This will help avoid 
duplication and ensure that Members’ work 
in scrutiny makes the most effective 
contribution possible on the most important 
issues to the district. Work programming 
could take place through a Member 
workshop, where a shortlist of priority topics 
for the next 12 months are identified 
according to a selection criteria, discussed 
on their merit for scrutiny, and voted on.  

confirm work programmes 

Currently the work programme is the last 
item on the agenda at scrutiny meetings, we 
would recommend bringing it to the 
beginning, so it can benefit from more 
considered discussion rather than being 
subject to the inevitable end of meeting 
fatigue. 

 Reorder agendas 

Meeting preparation SMDC should consider introducing pre-
meetings before formal committee between 
all scrutiny Members to provide the space to 
set common objectives and possibly to reach 
consensus on lines of enquiry and 
questioning strategy.  

 Develop approach with Chairs of 
Panels 

Committee structure and 
timetabling 
 

We would advise SMDC to review the 
number of committees. The Health Scrutiny 
Panel often deals with matters outside the 
Council’s responsibility and duplication with 
County Council health scrutiny was reported. 
Merging the Health Panel with the 
Communities Panel is one option, as there 
appears to be significant crossover between 
the two, this would enable Officer and 
Member resources to be more focussed.  

 Review number of Overview & 
Scrutiny Panels 

 Consider structure of Panels and 
potential to create sub-groups to 
focus on specific areas of work  

 Explore and experiment with 
ways to allow greater public 
access, openness and 
involvement 

The 19 Members sitting on each panel is 
also a very high number to enable effective 
scrutiny and provide opportunities for 
everyone to engage. A reduction in 
committee Membership should also be 
considered.  
In terms of both the number of committees 
and frequency of meetings at SMDC, there 
are clear advantages of having fewer 
committees which meet on a more regular 
basis.  

 
 
 

 

Page 132



 

 
Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - Work Programme 2021/22 

 

Date Items for Agenda 
21 June 2021  

 Refreshed Community Safety Strategy 
 Climate Change Action Plan 

12 July 2021  

 Your Housing Group Regular Update  
 Update - Levels of Pollution and the Air Quality Action Plan 

06 Sep 2021  
  Anti-Social Behaviour 

08 Nov 2021  
 Climate Change Action Plan - Part 2 

 Scrutiny Review – Discussion Item 
24 Jan 2022  

 Support Staffordshire Update Presentation 

 Your Housing Group Regular Update  

 Citizens Advice Bureau Annual Update    

7 March 2022  

 Local Policing Annual Update (TBC) 

  

 

Key Organisations to Invite/ Schedule Annually and Additional Items 
Staffordshire Commissioner Annual Update  

Local Policing Team  Annual Update  
Your Housing – 6 Monthly Update  

Fire & Rescue  Service Annual Update  
Citizens Advice Bureau Annual Update  

Assets of Community Value 
Refreshed Environment Enforcement Policy 

Kick Start Scheme - invited 
Management Plan for green spaces managed and maintained by SMDC 

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL 
MEETING 

 

Minutes 
 

MONDAY, 6 SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

PRESENT: Councillor D Shaw (Chair)   
 

 Councillors J Aberley, G Heath, I Herdman, T Holmes, K Hoptroff, 
B A Hughes, J T Jones, T Riley, P Roberts, P Taylor, R Ward and 

N Yates. 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Councillors M Gledhill, A Hart, N Hawkins, K J Jackson, J Porter 

and P Wilkinson. 
 

APOLOGIES: Councillors T McNicol, K Martin and L Swindlehurst. 
 

59 NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS, IF ANY. 

 

Councillor Wilkinson was substitute member for Councillor Martin and Councillor 

Gledhill substituted for Councillor Swindlehurst. 
 

60 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING. 

 
DECIDED: That the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on the 12 th July 2021 

be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

61 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS, IF ANY (24 HOURS NOTICE TO BE 

PROVIDED TO THE CHAIRMAN) 
 

There were no urgent items of business. 
 

62 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS: 

 

None were declared. 

 
63 QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS, IF ANY. 

 

1. Question received from Councillor Hoptroff: 
 

“Why isn’t Climate Change on the agenda for this meeting when it is the platform for 
the Portfolio Holder to report to members of the panel and allow scrutiny and 
support. This was agreed and promised when the Climate Change Emergency was 

approved in 2019 to be on every agenda of this committee?” 
 
Response from Councillor Porter – Portfolio Holder for Climate Change & 
Biodiversity: 
 

Page 135

Agenda Item 9



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 6 September 2021 
 

2 
 

On the 10th July 2019 this Council took the crucial step of declaring a Climate 
Change Emergency. The resolution from that meeting of the full Council included 

undertakings to: 
1 Work towards making Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030 
2 Call on the Government to provide guidance, powers and resources to make 

carbon neutrality possible 
3 Request that the Chair of the Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

establishes a sub committee to undertake detailed research with a view to 
developing an effective, achievable and costed plan for addressing climate 
change within the Staffordshire Moorlands. 

4 Ensure that all Council Bodies and Scrutiny Panels consider the impact of 
climate change and the environment when making decisions and reviewing 

Council policies and strategies. 
5 Review progress made on an annual basis via Scrutiny and Full Council. 
 

Councillor Hoptroff’s question quite rightly refers to the importance of providing a 
platform for Members of this Committee to scrutinise and support the Council’s work 

towards achieving carbon neutrality. This is why one of the undertakings was to 
establish a specific sub-committee to provide the required support and scrutiny. 
 

Since making this undertaking, the Climate Change Working Group has met on ten 
occasions to help formulate our action plan. However, the Council went beyond its 

initial undertaking and also established thematic sub-groups to consider the 
Council’s emissions, Energy, Housing, Natural Environment, Travel & Transport, and 
Industry & Agriculture. These groups have also met regularly, often on a monthly 

basis, to provide further opportunities for Members to contribute to this agenda. The 
Council also extended membership of the Working Group to include the Moorlands 

Climate Action Group. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Chairs and all the members of the 

Working Group and the six Sub-Group for their support in developing our Climate 
Change plan. 

 
The other undertaking was to review progress on an annual basis via Scrutiny and 
Full Council. I am committed to presenting annual reports to both this Scrutiny 

Committee and to Full Council each year to coincide with the anniversary of the 
Council signing the Emergency declaration. 

 
We will looking Part 2 of the Climate Change action plan in the coming months and 
this will be presented to both the Climate Change Working Group and this 

Committee to gain the valuable input of those two groups. 
 

We have always said that the action plans will be flexible document that will be 
updated on a regular basis and it is important that we have an on-going mechanism 
to involve Councillors in that process. 

 
Most importantly, we must now have a strong focus on delivering our plan. I 

recognise the desire of Members to support the delivery of the Council’s action plan 
and that only providing an annual update to the Committee and Full Council does not 
provide sufficient opportunities for Members to be engaged with delivery of the plan. 

 
For those reasons, I intend to meet with the Chair of this Committee, the Chair of the 

Working Group, Officers and others to consider how the current structures need to 
Page 136



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 6 September 2021 
 

3 
 

change as we move from preparing the plan to monitoring its delivery and updating 
where necessary. 

 
Officers are also working on the reporting arrangements so that this important 
priority is included in the quarterly performance reports that are provided to all 

Members. 
 

It is important to remember that our intention is to put Climate Change at the heart of 
the Council’s priorities and actions. All reports that are received by this and other 
Committees includes a section on Climate Change implications. In addition to 

updates on delivery of the plan, Members will have the opportunity to consider and 
scrutinise specific, detailed reports on such things as the Asset Management 

Strategy, Procurement Strategy, and the Parks and Open Spaces Management 
Policy. 
 

By way of supplementary questions, Councillor Hoptroff asked if an item on Climate 
Change could be included as a standing item for each meeting of the Panel. Initially, 

the Chair was in agreement with this request. It was highlighted that a standing item 
could lead to duplication and therefore the Chair of this Panel and the Chair of the 
Climate Change Working Group would discuss this matter after the meeting.  

 
Councillor Porter confirmed that Part 2 of the Climate Change Action Plan was 

programmed for the meeting on 8th November 2021. This was a complex document 
which would constantly evolve and would incorporate a costed plan. 
 

Councillor Hoptroff queried the future of the Climate Change Working Group, as in 
his opinion, recommendations made by the Group were not taken into account. In 

response, the Portfolio Holder advised that the formal scrutiny of the Climate 
Change Action Plan was within the remit of the Community Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel. Working Groups were appointed for a fixed period of time and had an end 

date. 
  
2. Question received from Councillor Swindlehurst: 
 

“The Government has announced a £338 million investment in walking and cycling, 

which, together with the Highway Code amendments should increase the potential 
for significantly less car use. Mindful that transport is the biggest source of carbon 

emissions resulting in premature death what provisions do we intend to implement to 
encourage active travel?” 
 
Response from Councillor Porter – Portfolio Holder for Climate Change & 
Biodiversity: 

 
Over the last 18 months, active travel had become more important than ever and 
would continue to increase in importance. The Council’s Green Infrastructure 

Strategy included potential active travel routes such as Biddulph Valley Way, Monsal 
Trail and the Cresswell to Cheadle corridor. These schemes were a priority and the 

Council would apply for funding accordingly.  
 
As substitute member for Councillor Swindlehurst, Councillor Gledhill explained how 

impressed he was with the number of children that had walked to school today. 
However, there was an issue at Westwood Road in Leek as cars were grid-locked, 

engines idled and cars were parked on double yellow lines. The pollution created by 
Page 137



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 6 September 2021 
 

4 
 

these factors was noticeable and he asked how the Council would work with 
partners to make this route safer and cleaner. 

 
Councillor Porter agreed with the importance of health and well-being and how it 
linked with the climate agenda. He had met with officers at the County Council and 

highlighted a new campaign – Air Aware Staffordshire. He would continue to meet 
with representatives from the County Council and work in partnership. He gave 

examples of trial schemes where areas outside of schools were pedestrianised 
which had proved successful. This type of arrangement depended on the locality and 
partnership working with the school and community. 

 
The second supplementary question was around large numbers of people crossing 

St Edward’s Street in Leek without a zebra crossing,  to attend regular town centre 
events and how such issues could be raised with the County Council. 
 

In response, Councillor Porter would contact the Air Aware Staffordshire Team and 
suggested that Councillor Atkins could be contacted to act in her capacity as a 

County Councillor. 
 

64 ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR 

 

The Council was committed to reviewing its approach to community safety to reduce 

crime, the fear of crime and anti-social behaviour. The report, introduced by Mark 
Trillo – Executive Director, helped to deliver that commitment. 
 

 A wide variety of behaviour could be defined as ‘anti-social’ if it had a negative 
impact on others. In law, anti-social behaviour was defined as behaviour that 

causes, or is likely to cause alarm, distress or harassment to others (and nuisance in 
the housing context). 

The Council had a duty to exercise its functions with due regard to the impact on 

anti-social behaviour. The Council had specific duties in relation to certain types of 
behaviours, such as noise nuisance. 

The report detailed a draft policy covering the Council’s response to anti-social 
behaviour and also a handbook that is intended to provide relevant advice to the 
residents of Staffordshire Moorlands. 

In response to a query around the dilution of policing powers, members were 
assured this was not the case and the Council’s role was to deal with general 

complaints and low level anti-social behaviour which did not include any criminal 
offenses. Dependant on the nature of the problem, the Council would work in 
conjunction with the Police to ensure the most suitable action was taken for 

residents. 

A member of the Panel requested an officer contact list to refer to and the most 

appropriate way to channel queries would be discussed after the meeting with the 
Head of Communities and Climate Change. A case management system was also 
being looked into which would assist members with their case work.  

It was also felt that a summary of the Handbook would be beneficial for residents 
and that resources should be directed into the provision of activities for young 

people. Members were advised that the Community Safety Plan incorporated multi-
agency diversionary activities to prevent the occurrence of anti-social behaviour and 
details of the Plan could be shared at a future meeting of the Panel. 

 Page 138



Community Overview & Scrutiny Panel - 6 September 2021 
 

5 
 

DECIDED:  

 

1) That the Panel notes the Council’s responsibilities with respect to 
anti-social behaviour. 
 

2) That the Panel recommends that the Cabinet approves the draft 
Anti-Social Behaviour Policy. 

 

3) That the Panel notes the Anti-Social Behaviour Handbook and assists in 
raising awareness of the handbook within the community. 

 

 

65 WORK PROGRAMME 
 

The Panel considered its Work Programme and agreed the items listed.  

 
A suggestion was made for some of the items listed for the following meeting to be 

postponed to allow sufficient time for the Panel to scrutinise the Climate Change 
Plan – Part 2. The Chair advised that he would discuss the matter with the Chair of 
the Climate Change Working Group and agree the most suitable way forward.  

 
DECIDED: That the Work Programme for 2021-2022 be agreed. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 6.55 pm 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Staffordshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel 

Report of the Chairman of the Police, Fire and Crime Panel 

 
To All Member Authorities 

 
In accordance with agreed practice I am reporting on matters dealt with by the 
Police, Fire and Crime Panel at its meeting on 12 October 2021. 

 
The main items considered were:  
 
Confirmation Hearing Procedure 

 
The Secretary to the Panel’s report explained that the Panel was required to hold a 
Confirmation Hearing following receipt of formal notification by the Police Fire and Crime 

Commissioner of his wish to appoint his preferred candidate for both posts of Chief Fire 

Officer and Chief Constable.   
 

The report explained that guidance on the role of the Panel recommended that through 

questioning of the candidate they should consider the ‘professional competence’ and 
‘personal independence’ of the individual. To assist, the Panel had been provided with 

documentary evidence of the process followed by the Commissioner when recruiting to 
the posts and selecting his preferred candidates. 

  

Consideration of the proposed appointment to the post of Chief Fire Officer 

 

Presentation by the Police Fire and Crime Commissioner 
 
The Commissioner reported on the detailed and lengthy process followed by him to 

recruit a new Chief Fire Officer for Staffordshire.  Information provided to candidates 
was submitted to the Panel for information. 

 
The Commissioner reported that Mr Barber was his preferred candidate.  
 

Presentation by and questions to Mr Barber: 
 

Mr Barber briefly summarised his career in the Fire and Rescue Service having 
served with Staffordshire Fire and Rescue since 1997.  He went on to list the 
additional duties and responsibilities he had held both nationally and regionally.  

 
The Panel questioned Mr Barber on various issues including the main challenges 

and risks facing the service; working within neighbourhoods; prevention and 
protection; working with other partners/services; communications and his experience 
in Staffordshire. 

 
In his responses Mr Barber stressed that the challenges facing the service were the 
same as those facing the whole of society, such as Dementia, obesity and addiction, 

as fire is often a symptom of other causes and there is a need to work closely with 
partners to identify and address the root cause. 

 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



Mr Barber reported that in his view there had been a reduction in neighbourhood and 
community communication particularly with local Councillors and this needed to be 

restored so that information could be shared. 
 

Mr Barber advised the panel that working relationships with both the Commissioner 
and other partners would always be based on him providing the best information at 
the time in order for informed decisions to be made.  

 
The Panel unanimously agreed that the Police Fire and Crime Commissioner for 

Staffordshire be informed that this Panel recommends that he proceed with the 
appointment of Mr Robert Barber as the Chief Fire Officer for Staffordshire. 

 
Consideration of the proposed appointment to the post of Chief Constable for 

Staffordshire 

 

Presentation by the Police Fire and Crime Commissioner 
 
The Commissioner introduced his report which included Information provided to 

candidates and outlined the selection process. 
 

Mr Haroon, an Independent Interview Panel Member, briefly outlined the recruitment 
and selection process and the stakeholder involvement which had taken place. 
 

The Commissioner reported that Mr Noble was his preferred candidate.  
 

Presentation by and questions to Mr Noble 
 
Mr Noble briefly summarised his career in the Police Service having served in a 

number of Forces including 21 years in the Royal Ulster Constabulary and his 
current position as Deputy Chief Constable Humberside Constabulary. 

  
The Panel questioned Mr Noble on various issues including the main challenges the 
force faced; how trust can be rebuilt following the recent Sarah Everard case; 

Neighbourhood and community policing; and staffing levels. 
 

In his responses, Mr Noble felt that the long term effects of the pandemic would 
prove to be challenging, with increased unemployment and financial worries leading 
to crime and Anti-social behaviour.  Mental health pressures would also lead to the 

need for closer partnership working.  Community policing and tackling some forms of 
anti-social behaviour would involve partnership working and looking at the cause and 

how and who could address this. 
 
Responding to a specific question on the independence of the role, Mr Noble 

informed the Panel that the role of Chief Constable involved working with many 
partners and forming relationships whilst retaining accountability and operational 

independence.   
 
Mr Noble felt that whilst the majority of police officers showed excellent standards of 

behaviour, the culture in policing needed to change and the highest standards of 
behaviour needed to be set along with a zero tolerance to certain attitudes which had 

Page 142



been accepted in the past.  Formal vetting of police officers could only go so far and 
informal scrutiny and improved leadership was needed to increase standards of 

behaviour. 
 

The recruitment of the right people and their retention was a priority, with clear 
performance standards and expectations set out at the start of the recruitment 
process.   

 
Following a question on communicating with the public, Mr Noble stated that the 

correct type of communication needed to be used to best suit the issue in question 
and the audience.  The right person with the right information needed to the public 
face, not necessarily the Chief Constable.   

 
The Panel unanimously agreed that the Police and Crime Commissioner for 

Staffordshire be informed that this Panel recommends that he proceed with the 
appointment of Mr Chris Noble as the Chief Constable for Staffordshire. 

 

 

Webcast can be found at 
http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1150&MId=13776

&Ver=4 
 
 

For more information on these meetings or on the Police, Fire and Crime Panel in 
general please contact Mandy Pattinson e mail 

mandy.pattinson@staffordshire.gov.uk 
 
Details of Panel meetings are issued to contact officers in each of the 

District/Borough Councils in the County and Stoke-on-Trent City Council for posting 
on their own web sites. 

 
Councillor Bernard Peters 
Staffordshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel Chairman                        

 
 

 

Page 143

http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1150&MId=13776&Ver=4
http://moderngov.staffordshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1150&MId=13776&Ver=4
mailto:mandy.pattinson@staffordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 SMDC Draft Climate Change Part 2 Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Climate Change Attitude Survey�Staffordshire Moorlands District Council��Report�� October 2021
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Question 1a.€ How concerned are you about the impact of climate change on our District?�% respondents�
	Question 1b. How concerned are you about the following in relation to climate change?�% respondents�
	Question 2.€€How well do you think you understand what is meant by being Net Zero?€�% respondents�
	Question 3.  Do you think it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030?  �% respondents�
	Question 4. How important is tackling climate change to you?�% respondents�
	Question 5. How likely is it you will take action on climate change?�% respondents�
	Question 6. What would help you make changes to tackle climate change and achieve a Net Zero Staffordshire Moorlands by 2030?€�% respondents�
	Question 7.€ How important do you think it is to prioritise the following to tackle climate change in the district?�% respondents�
	Question 8.€ How important do you think the following are for tackling climate in the district?�% respondents�
	Slide Number 13

	Appendix D
	Introduction
	Climate Change – Our Strategy
	Our Challenge
	Our Response
	Our Approach
	Our Values
	Our To Do List
	The way to Net Zero - Our Plan
	1 The Way We Live
	2 The Way We Travel
	3 The Way We Work
	4 The Way We Make Energy
	5 The Way We Look After Our Environment
	6 The Way We Manage Waste
	7 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur

	Key terms (Glossary)
	What can I do?


	6 Scrutiny Review - Discussion Item
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8 Work Programme
	9 To Approve the Minutes of the Previous Meeting.
	10 Report of the Chairman of the Police and Crime Panel.

